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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

1

EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

J. DOE, CIV-F-03-6249 OWW LJO
Plaintiff, FINDINGS OF FACT AND.
: CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
V.

' ‘ REDACTED VERSION - NOT
ALVARO RAFAEL SARAVIA; and DOES FILED UNDER SEAL

1-10, inclusive,

Defendants.
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FINDINGS OF FACT

1, [REDACTED]

2. Pursuant to Order of the Court dated September 18,
2003, for good cause shown, Plaintiff has brought this case under
the pseudonym J. Doe.

3. [REDACTED]

4. Plaintiff justifiably believes that El Salvador remains
an extremely dangerous country and that if his role in bringing
this case were widely known, he would be in danger.

5. The Plaintiff justifiably believes that he could not
bring this case in the Courts of El1 Salvador, because no criminal

investigation and prosecution were ever completed to identify the

1
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perpetrators of the assassination of Archbishop Romaro. Further,:

based on the grant of amnesty to perpetrators, continuing
unreliability of the Courts of El Salvador, including _'";
demonstrated hostility to imposing lega; responsibility for the
assassination of Archbishop Romerc, Plaintiff justifiably _
believes that a fair and impartial hearing could not be received
in the Courts of El Salvador.’ | ' ﬁ

6. The Plaintiff in good faith believes that he and his
family, through the present time, may be subject to attacks for
his role in this case and would hqt have brought the case except
under the privilege of anonymity. .

7. Plaintiff acknowledges that conditions hafe changed to
the extent that his attorne?s could meet with witnesses, who
testified at trial in the United States, and géthereg evidence
which, in earlier years before the end of the civil war, was not
possible. |

8. Defendant Alvaro Rafael Saravia, aASalvadoran citizen, .

was born on February 16 1846, Cr1m1nal Complaint, U.S. v.

Alvaro Rafael Saravxa Merino, 87-03598-CIV (S.D. Fla. Nov. 25,
1987), and supporting affidavit of Sharon L. Kegerreis, § 5;
Complaint for Extrajudicial Killing and Crimes Against Humanity,
filed 9/12/03 (“Complaint”), 9 4. Saravia previouély served as a
captain in the Salvadoran Air Force. In 1979, he was sgeparated
from the Salvadoran military, and from that time worked closely
with Major Roberto D'Aubuisson._

8. D’'Aubuisson, at the direction of and in conjunction with
elements of the Salvadoran armed forces and land-owning |

SBalvadoran civilians inside and outside of El Salvador, founded

2




w e W e B W N W

BN N NN NN NN H RO O R R R
e O T L . T I T T TR RN CRN PR

10.1

L

the politicél moveme;ﬁ Frente Amﬁlio Nacional (the “FAN”) and the
political party Alianza Republicana Nacionalista (™ARENA”), and
organized “escuadrones de lalmuerte," or “death squads,”
paramilitary organizations coméosed of miiitary personnel and '
civiliags whoVsygtematically carried.ou; politically—motivated
assassinations and other human rights. abuses in Ei Salvador.
Complaint §§ 4, 11-13. Saravia was an active member of £hese

death squads and held the position of “chief of security” for

Robert D‘Aubuisson in 1980. Id.; Hr’g. Tr. 8/27/04 (Karl) 89:4-

10. Saravia was resident in Eodesto,_California,.in'the
Fresno Division of the Eastern Judicial bistrict of California at
the time this suit was filed., He continﬁes to receive mail at
2401 Manor Oak Drive,'Mddéstq, California 95355, and was served
with process there; Proof of Sefvice,‘filed January 9, 2004.

11. Public records connect Defendant, by his date of birth,
to that address, and establish that Defeﬂdant is the same Alvaro
Rafael Saravia, who was sought to be extradited by the U.S.
Government to El Salvador in 1987-1988 té face charges, later
dismissed, of his complicity in the assassination of Archbishop
Romero. See Declaration of Lecia Smith, and Ex. A, filed $/2/04
(“Smith_becl."). These records link Defendant to an earlier
Florida address and a Social Security Number issued in Florida in

1985-1986. Id.; see alsoc Supplemental Declaration of Mary Beth

' All citations to the transcript of the evidentiary hearing
on Plaintiff’'s Application for a Default Judgment are to the
preliminary version; the final transcript was not yet available
at the time of filing.
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Kaufman, filed 9/2/04 (“Kaufman Decl.”).

12. On September lé, 2003, Plaiﬁtiff filed a éoﬁblain;
against Saravia for violations of the Alien Tort Claims Act
(“ATCA”), 28 U.S.C. § 1350, and the Torture Victim Protection Act
(“TVPA"”)}, Pub. L. No. 102-256 (1992) (cédiﬁied at 28 U.8.C.

§ 1350, note) for his role in the March 24, 1980 assassination of
Archbishop Romero in San Salvador, El Salvador. |

13. sSubstitute service was effected on September 15, 2003,
and October 18, 2003, by leaving a copy-df the papers with Ines
Olsson, the owner of 2401 Manor Oak Drive, Modesto, California
95355, the address at which Saravia was or had beenrxésiding and
at which he was and is continﬁing to receive mail. The
registered process server who served the Summons, Complainﬁ and
related papers, explained the general nature of the paperg toIMs.
Olsson at the time of personal service. Thereafter.the papérs
were mailed on October 21; 2003, by a registered prdcess'server
in the United States mail to Saravia at thai address.

14. As of January 7, 2004, Defendant held recorded
fictitious business names for Alo Fashion, Aquarius Enterpriées,
in the name of Alvaro Saravia, listing his business address as
2401 Manor Oak Drive, Modesto, California 95353. Personal
records showed Defendant’s listing of the same address as his
address since at least 1997.

15. In a December 16, 2003, conversation, Ms. Olsson told
M. B. Kaufman, a fellow and attorney for the.Center for Justice
and Accountability, that Alvaro Saravia had moved to Modesto in

1990, after conversations with Ms. Olsson and that Ms. Olsson

“knew Mr. Saravia had been in the Air Force in El Salvador.”

4
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1 - 16, fhe Courtléntered Saravia's default by Order of the

' 21!C1erk dated April 13, 2004. .'

3 17. Plaintiff applied for default judgment by the Court.
In support of the application, Plaintiff filed declarations from

| numerous witnesses and presented live testimony at an evidentiary

4
5
Gilhearing held in open court on August 24-27 and Sebtembex‘B, 2004."
7 | The witnesses testifying at the Heariné ihcluded The Rev;rend'

8 || canon William L. Wipfler, Ph.D.; Bishop Thomas J. Gumbleton;

8

|| Amade Antonio Garay; Ambassador Robert White (by videotape‘
 10lEdeposition); Judge Atilio Ramirez Amaya; Professor Terry Lynn

11 || Karl; Maria Julia Hernandez; Father Jon Cortina, 8.J.; Esther del
12. Carmen Chavez Mancia; Francigco Acosta Aievalo; Father Walﬁer

13 | Guerra; and Professor Naomi Roht-Arriaza.

14 | ITI. FACTUAL BACKGROUND:'THE_ROOTS OF THE CONFLICT IN EL SALVADOR

15Ik A. COUNTRY BACKGROUND
16 18. The recent history of El Salvador has been defined by

17 || the ¢cncentration of the vast majority of land in the hands of a
18 || small group of wealthy landowners. This group is colloquially
19 j referred to s the “14 families,” signifying that a small number
20 j| of people hold great wealth and political influence in the

21 | country. BHr'g. Tr. 8/26/04 (Xarl), 3:12-25; Ex. 98, March 15,
22 || 1993 Repért of the United Nations Commission on the Truth in E1
23 | Salvador (“TC Report”) (Ex. 98), pp. 132-33.

24 13. Peasants and workers were constantly attacked in order
25 || to prevent them from organizing. These attacks culminated in a
26 | massacre in 1932 with more than 30,000 killed by military forces
27 | aligned with the landowners. This led to the imposition of a

28 [military regime that remained in power for more than 50 years,
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the longest military regime in the history of Latin America.
H;'é Tr. 8/26/04 (Karl),i2:6-25; TC Report. PP. 132~53§

20. 2 de facto alliance.between the'military'and_thg‘
oligarchs strengthened the oligarchs’ grip on power. The
military located their barracks on the pfoperty of these
landowners and thereby controlled peasants'and workers by
repressing any opportunities for organization. By protecting:
their land and keeping the workers under control, the milit?ry
served the landowner’s interests opposinglland reform. Hr’'g Tr.
8/26/04 (Rarl), 3:18, 4:1-25; TC Report, pp. 132-33.

21. The armed forces of El Salvador included an-;rmy and
three security forces: the National Guard, the National Police
and the Treasury Police. These three forces operated undef the
orders of the High Command but simultaneocusly éerved‘tha ‘
landowners. The National Guard was traditionally the body 9f the
security forces with the greatest presence in rural areas. Hr’'g
Tr. 8/26/04 (Karl), 16:1-25,

B. The Rise of Paramilitary Forces.

22. In 1969 El1 Salvador went to war against Honduras in a

border conflict better known as the “soccer war.” Closing the
borders eliminated a “safety valve” for Salvadorans unable to
find work on the farms or in factories. This increased the
pressure for land reform and the already extensive strength of
the military and security forces. Hr'g Tr. 8/26/04 (Karl), 3:1-
iB; 6:18-7:21.

23. In response to new attempts by Salvadoran peasants to
organize during the sixties and the emergence of some reformists

within the military who favored land reform, the security forces

6




woe N e W N R

|-|‘
w

jcreated paramilitary groups to operate in rural areas. One of

Ethe‘main paramilitary groups was known as ORDEN. Colonel Jose

Alberto Medrano, thg former head of the National Guard, was the

gfounder of ORDEN and oversaw more than 80,000 members, mosﬁly
5-ci_viliéns, tﬁroﬁghout the country. Médr;no also created the
%National Intelligence Agency of El Salvador (ANSESAL) . Hf'g Tr.
:28/26/04 (Kérlf. 3:18, .17:1-25, 22:1-25, 23:1;25; TC Report, p.

[ 133. o o

24, By 1979, the security forces and ORDEN had thoroughly
consolidated their power, sowing terror among the civiliaﬁ
population. Not only were workers, peasants and priests
targeted, teachers, union leaders, doctore, and other
professionals were brﬁtally repres#ed. Hr'g Tr. 8/26/04 {Xarl),
68:1-25; TC Report, p. 133.

C. The Emergence of ILiberation Theclogy.

25. During the same time, the Catholic Church underwent a
major transformation after a conference of bishops in Medellin,
Columbia, S.A., in 1969, at which it was decreed that the church
should focus on the needs of the poor. Because the Catholic
Church had traditionally been aligned with the oligarchy in E1
Salvador, this new interpretation of theology, known as
“Liberation Theology,” was a significant change. Hr'g Tr.
8/26/04 (Cortina), 95:16-25.

26. Priests all over El Salvador began to engage in
projects to support poorer communities. The oligarchy and
sympathetic military leaders considered Liberation Theology to be
a front for Marxism. Starting in at least 1977, priests and lay

Catholic workers became targets of repression. The World

7




W 0 N v B W K e

L L
L TN ¥ ; BN S PR S N T = |

17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

Antlcommunzst League and its regional body, the Confederation of j-

Latxn American Anti- Communlsts (CAL), approved resolutiona
condemning priests and establishing groups to monitor their
activities. Hr‘’g Tr. 8/26/04 (Karl), 6?:1—25, 68: 1 25, 69:1- 25
70:1-25, 71:1-25, 72:1-25. | . o

27. On February 22, 1977, Oscar Romero, then bishop of San
Miguel, was elevated to Archbishop of San Salvador. At thatsﬁime
he was known for his moderate traditional views. On March'lz,
1977, Father Rutilioc Grande, a Jesuit priest, wag murdered i# the
town of Aguilares. (Aguilares provided an example of the
implementation of Liberation Theology, where communit§ members,
with the help of Father Grande and others, established Chriatiaﬁ
Base Communities). Father érande was a close and importanﬁ
friend of Archbishop Romero. After the mnrder; Romero realized
that Father Grande was targeted simply because he wanted tg
improve the deplorable condition of the poor in El1 Salvador. The
steadily incteasing human rights abuses against poor civilians -
and members of the church changed Romero’s views on the role of '
the church in El1 Salvador. Hr’g Tr. 8/26/04 (Karl), 71:1-73:25;
Hr'g Tr. 8/26/04 {Cortina), 88:1-89:25.

D. Coup and Violent Backlash.

28. In October 1979 a coup was carried out bf younger
reformist military officers 1ed by Colonel Adolfo Majano. The
new Revolutionary Governing Junta promised democracy and land
reform, decreed the dismantling of ANSESAL and ORDEN, and briefly
jailed some of the most notorious repressive figures in the
military. Hr'g Tr. 8/26/04 (Karl), 55:21-56:25.

28%. The coup resulted in a new period of viclence. Various

8
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| groups vied for control of the repressive apparatus. A core of

;military officers sought to block 5ny reform. They considered

the Junta to be infiitrated by reformers. One of the leaders of.

§

this faction was former Major Roberto D‘Aubuisson, who up until

| 1979 had been third in command of ANSESAL and had secreted away
i many of the égency's archives. D'Aﬁbuiéson bégan organizing
| death squads as 'early as 1977, but intensified his efforts after

:the coup. The group of military officers he led performed

widespread and brutal abductions and murders throughout.thé late
19708 and early 1980s. TC Report,.p.'133-34. .

30. Major D’Aubuisson drew considerable support from
wealthy civilians who feared that their lands and business
interesis would be adversely affected by the reform program
announced by the Junta. IThey_we;e-gonvinced that the country
faced a serious thieat of Marxist insurrection which they needed
to overcome. Some of the richest landowners and businessmen
inside and outside the country offered ﬁhéir estates, homes,
vehicles, and bodyguards to help the death squads. They also
provided the funds used to organize and méintain the squads,
especially those directed by.Major D’Aubuisson. TC Report, p.
134.

31. Saravia was “[olne of the principal lieutenants of
D’Aubuisson” and was widely known to be D’Aubuisson’s “Chief of
Security” after both were cashiered from the Salvadoran military.
Hr’g Tr. 8/27/04 (Karl), 122:15-17; Hr’g Tr. 8/24/04 (White),
White Dep. 34:4-5.

E. Romero’s Increasingly Vocal Criticism.

32. During this time Archbishop Romerc showed a profound

9
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interest in and sympathy for the needs of poor Salvadoians; He

.

used his position as Archblshop to address the repression in the
country In his weekly Sunday homilies he denounced the human
rights abuses occurring throughout E1 salvador. bften his
homilies were the only public source of information about these
abuses, identifying victims of violence and victimes who
“disappeared.” He explicitly denounced the military and membe:s
of the security forces for their repressive actions. His .
homilies were broadcast throughout the country and millions of
Salvadorans listened to them regularly. Hr'g Tr. 8/26/04
(Cortina), 98:23-25, $9:20-100:2; Hr'g Tr. 8/27/04 (Gﬁerra).
57:1-58:25. |

33. On March 23, 1980; Archbishop Romerc delivered hia most

-decisive homily. After weeks of increasing repression,

Archblshop Romero declared, “No soldier is obliged to obey an
order counter to the law of God.~” He continued, “In the name of
God, then, and in the name of this suffering people, whose criesg
rise to heaven each day more tumultuous, I beseech_you, I beg
You, I order you, in the name of God, stop the repregsion?” Ex.
92 (March 23 homily); Hr'g Tr. 8/24/04 (Wipfler), 64:3-65:16,

IV. ASSASSINATION OF ARCHBISHOP ROMERO

A, The Assassination.

34. On March 24, 1980, Major D’Aubuisson, Saravia and.
others gathered at the home of a D’Aubuisson supporter in San
Salvador. The group had knowledge that Archbishop Romero would
celebrate a mass that day. A member of the group proposed that
this provided a good opportunity to carry out the already

approved assassination. D’aubuissen agreed, and the group began

10
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1 [ to make arréngements.' Saravia took charge of the operation and

2 | was involved in paying the fees of the aséassin. Complaint,

399 15, 19; TC Report, pp. 127-131; Ex. 99, Inter-American

4 | Commigsion on Human Rights Dec1sxon (“IACHR Deczslon"), 19 3, 20

5| 43, 54, 54 (cltlng with approval the flndlngs of the TC Report) | -
6 35. Amado Garay testified that early that evening,.Saravia ‘
7 | was at home when he instructed hisg dri;ef} Garay, to drive him to

8 || a house ﬁith'distinctive Japanese Mgronon trees in front,. |

9 Saravia, along with two members of the ﬁational Police, Neison
10  Morales, and Nelson Garcia, who had prev1ously recruited Garay to

11l | work for Saravia, and another person also drove to the house.
12 I Hr'g Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 103:22-104:23; TC Report, pp. 127, 130,
13 | 131. |

14‘ 36.. Garay waited by ;he gaté.qf the house while Saravia

15 $went into the house. Saravia laﬁer emérged accompanied by a tali

16 | man with a beard. Saravia told Garay to drive the bearded man to

17 || an ugdisclosed location, and told him thét the man would give him

18 } directions. Hr’'g Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 105:11-106:5; TC Report,
19 | pp. 127, 130, 131.

20 37. Saravia said to the tall, bearded man, in Garay’s

21 j presence, “It [is] better to shoot in the head because maybe he
22 | have [sic] a bulletproof vest. You have to be sure he got [sic]
23 (| killed.” Saravia also informed Garay that they would be provided
24 | with protection, as a vehicle would drive behind him. Hr’'g Tr.
25 T8/24/04 (Garay), 106:7-16.

26 38. Saravia directed Garay to get into a red Volkswagen to
27 ffdrive the tall, bearded man. The man had a long rifle with a

28 | telescopic lens. Garay followed the directions of the man, who

11
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spoke with a Salvadoran accent, to a location with a—big_gate.
#dilowed by a long path.. Complaint, ¢ 16; Hr'g_Tr. 8/24/04 . o
(Garay), 106:13-14; 20-23; 107;1-2; 111:12-13; 112:16; TC Report,
pPp. 127, 130-131. | |

39. During the ride, while Garay drove, the bearded man
said, 1 can’t believe it, I’'m going to sﬁobt a priest.” Hr’'g
Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 112:3-4, ‘-

40. The man directed Garay to stop at the front door.of a

church, which was identified by eyewitnesses as the chapel of the

.Hospital of Divine Providence. Garay saw people gitting in the

pews of the church and a priest - whose identity was unknown to
him at the time - speaking. The priest was Archbishop Romero,

who was celebrating a mass in memory of Sara Meardi de Pinto, the

'mother of Jorge Pinto, a friend of the Archbishop's and the owner

of the opposition newspaper, Bl Independiente. Notice of ;her
mass, celebrated at six o’clock in the aftetnoon, had been
published in the newspapers, La Prensa Grafica and Diario de Hoy.
Hr‘g Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 107:5-7; 108:21-25; 109:1; Hr’'g Tr.
8/24/04 (Ramirez Amaya) 34:19-22; 35:10-11; Hr'g Tr. 8[26/04.
(Hernandez), 153:2-7; Ex. 40 (photo of Jorge Pinto); IACHR
Decision, § 45, n. 31; Ex. 115 (announcement of mass for Sara
Meardi di Pinto).

41. The bearded man in the car directed Garay to act like
he was fixing something in the car. Garay bent over in the front
seat. Hr'g Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 107:8-11.

42. Garay then.heard a loud explosion as the bearded man in
the back seat of the vehicle shot Archbishop Romero. Hr’'g Tr.

8/24/04 (Garay), 107:12-13, 108:24; Complaint, Y 6; TC Report,

12
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pp. 28, 127, 130, 131.

43. The man told Garay to drive slcwly away from the
church., Garay drove slowly, and subsequently got lost, but the:
shooter made contact with the security car by radio and was glVenf
directions back to the house with the Japanese Marconon trees.
Hr'g Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 107:14-22,

44, When Garay and the shooter returned to the house with
the Maronon trees, they were greeted by Saravza. The shooter
1nformed Saravia that the ass;gnment had been carried out.
Saravia told Garay and the shooter that he had heard the'news on
the radic that the hrchbishop had died instantly. Complaint
§.16; Hr'g Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 109:20-22, 24-25; 110:1-4.

45. Saravia, Nelson Morales, Nelson Garcia and Garay drove
back to Saravia’s house in a Jeep Cherokee, which was the vehicle
regularly used to transport Saravia. Hr’'g Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay),
101:24; 115:7.

.46. Once at Saravia’s house, Saravia advised Garay that
Garay, Nelson Morales, and Nelson Garcia would sleep at a
different house that night. Hr'g Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 116:25;
117:1, 3-10; 119:1, 4-5.

47. Several days later, Garay drove Saravia from Saravia’s
home to a house in Sal Salvador that looked like a castle. The
house had a long driveway and a big, white gate. Major
D’Aubuisson emerged from the house. Saravia saluted Major
D’Aubuisson and told him, “Mission completed.” Complaint, ¢ 17;
Hr’'g Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 127:1-11, 16-23; 127:5-9.

48. ©Saravia also delivered to the assassin a sum of money,

which earlier had been provided to him to pay the assassin, or

13
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his' agent. Complaint, '17; RT Report, pp. 127,'13}2

| 49. On a later date, Garay was driving Sarﬁvia past'ah..
empty_lot. He saw a car that had been burned. Saravia told |
Garay that the car was the red Volkswagén that had been used to
transport the shooter to the Romero assassination.‘ Hr'g Tr.
8/24/04 (Garay) 115:9-11, 13-18, 20-25; 116:1-8.

B. Events in the Immediate Aftermath of the Assasaination.

50. Archbishop Romero fell where he had been shot at the
Chapel of the Hospital of Divine Providence and was tended to by
the nuns.who lived and worked there. He was rushed to' the
Policlinica Hospital in a station wagon right after he.was shot.
Hr'g Tr. 8/26/04 (Hernandez), 149:18-20; Exs. 22, 24-30, 34, 3s,
38 (phoﬁos of assassination); Declaration of Maria Clelia Flores
Iraheﬁa, § 7, filed 8/20/04. ’

51. At the Hospital of Divine Providence, many'pebple‘were
gathered, including Father Jon Cortina; Monsenor Ricardo Urioste;
other nuns and priests; one of the lawyers for the Archdiocese’s .
human rights office, Florentin Melendez; the members.of an
American ecumenical delegation; relatives of the Archbiéhop: and
others. Hr’g Tr. 8/24/04 (Wipfler), 73:20-24; Hr'g Tr. 8/25/04
(Ramirez Amaya) 30:22-25; Hr‘g Tr. 8/26/04 (Cortina), 104:1-2; 5- |
6; Hr' Tr. 8/26/04 (Hernandez), 145:21-23; 146:4-6, 9; Ex. 42
(photograph at the Policlinica); Declaration of Rosa Nohemy
Ortiz, § 7, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Philip Berryman, Y 21,
filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Thomas Quigley, § 4, filed 8/20/04.

52. Archbishop Romero was pronounced dead on his arrival at
the Policlinica. Hr’g Tr. 8/24/04 (Wipfler), 73:23-24.

53. At the Chapel of the Hospital of Divine Providence,

14
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some of the hospitallpatients were detaining the phétographer
from the nNewspaper, Diario de Hoy, who had attended the masgs. He
ihitially was suspected of carrying out the assassination. '

} Father Cortlna testlfled he was somewhat knowledgeable about
photography, . he went to Divine Prov;dence to investigate this

| situation. Hr'g Tr. 8/26/04 (Cortina),’ 104:8-21, 105:5-13; Hr'g

Tr. 8/26/04 (Hernandez), 150:21-23. |
54. Fearful to go by himself, Father Cortina was .

accompanied by Monsenor Modesto Lopez to thé Chapel of the
Hospital of the'Divine Provideﬁce.- Father Cortina arrivéd at the
“chapel and hospitalkarea around 8:00 p.m. At that time, the area
was filled with armed soldiers wearlng camouflage uniforms and
armed policemen, he belleved were members of the National Police.
Hr'g Tr. 8/26/04 (Cortina), 104:25, 105:3-4; 108:10-15, 108:25-
L 109:10. Father Cortina determined that the two cameras of the
photographer could not have been converted to fire a bullet and
were not out of the ordinary. Father Cortina then left with the
Photographer to assist him in developing the photographs at the
i offices of the Diario de Hoy. Hr'g Tr. 8/26/04 (Cortina),
T104:20-24; 105:1;2, 5-15, 16-18; 107:11-16; Exs. 24, 25, 27-30,
”33-36 (photographs of assagsgination).

C. Pogst-Agsassination Investigation.

¥1 55. Judge Atilioc Ramiregz Amaya, the Criminal Judge of the
Fourth Criminal Court in San Salvador, testified he attempted to
carry out a serious investigation into the assassination of
Archbishop Romerc, but National Police and other government
officials charged with assigting in the investigation actively

obstructed his efforts, failed to conduct a timely investigation,

15
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failed to collect and preserve material evidence, and failed to
identify witnesses. Complaint, § 18; Hr’'g Tr. 8/25/04*(Ramifgz
Amaya), 22:2-4; 23:5-7, 15-18; 24:6-15; 27:4-7, 11-18; 45:21-25;
46:1-11; TC Report, p. 128; IACHR Decision, 99 10, 12, 20, 43,
46, 87-91. | | 7 :

56. On March 24, 1980, Judge Ramirez Amaya heard by word of
mouth that Archbishop Romero had been shot. He went to th§ o
Policlinica Hospital after he determined that Archbishop Raﬁero
had not been taken to the forensic clinic, a departure from tﬁe
normal procedure. He arrived around seven.o’clock in, the
evening. The National Police had not informed JudgeARamirgz
Amaya of the murder, also a-departure from standard procedure.
Since Romero was a person of high ranking, Judge Ramirez Amaya,
as thé Criminal Judge in San Salvador, immediately téok.ovér'the
investigation from the Justice of the Peace. Hr'g Tr. 8/25)04
(Ramirez Amaya), 22:19-22; 23:15-18, 20-23; 28:17-21, 22-25;
28:12-14; 25:1-10.

57. Judge Ramirez Amaya did not observe any police at the
Policlinica despite the fact that they should have been.there to
ensure security. Judge Ramirez Amaya then called his secretary
and asked him to call the police to request their pPresence .at the
Policlinica. The police never arrived. Hr'g Tr. 8/25/04
(Ramirez Amaya), 27:4-7; 30:13-18; 31:21; 46:9-11.

58. The room finally was cleared of all the people, and
Judge Ramirez Amaya ordered the forensic doctors to perform the
autopsy. The autopsy was performed by Dr. Cuellar Ortiz, Dr.
Pedro Chavarria, and two others. Judge Ramirez Amavya and.his

secretary were present during the autopsy. Hr'g Tr. 8/25/04

16
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(Ramirez Amaya), 31:1-5; 32:22-25; TC Report, p. 128.

59. The first step in the autopsy w#s the taking of X-rays
to make a determination as to the location of the bullet in '
Archbishop Romero’s body. The first X-ray was unsuccessfﬁi g0’

two or threelmofe X-rays were taken. From these X-rays, the

doctors determined that a small entry wound, barely 5 millimeters

I in Giameter in the right thorax, evidenced the point of entry of

the bullet. The bullet had fragmented into three parts and was
still inside Archbishop Romero’s thorax. Hr’'g Tr. 8/25/04
(Ramirez Amaya) 31:5-8; TC Report, p. 128; Ex. 113 (Romﬁr;
autopsy report). | '

60. The foremsic doctors cut the cartilage in the sternum
area of Archbishop_ﬂoﬁero's chest';q open his thorax. They
discovered a number of blood clots ;ﬁich'inhibited the locating
of the bullet fragments. The blood clots were removed and
dissolved individually. Finally, the bullet fragments were
locatéd. Hr'g Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya) 31:9-18; TC Report, p.
128; Ex. 113 (Romero autopsy report).

61l. The autopsy took almost four hours. The book of
acknowledgment and the final autopsy report, signed by Dr.
Chavarria, on behalf of his colleagues, and by Judge Ramirez
Amaya and his secretary, recorded that Archbishop Romeroc died
from a hemorrhége cauged by the bullet fragments severing his
aorta and the venae cavae. Hr'g Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya)
32:5-6, 8-21; 33:1-3, 6-7; IACHR Decision, Y 45, 46; Ex. 113
(Romeroc autopsy report).

62. At this point, Judge Ramirez Amaya requested that his

secretary telephone the National Police once again so the police

17
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could secure the evidence in bags, as was standard qberating‘

p&ocedure. The police did not arrive. Hr’‘g Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez

‘Amaya), 24:12-15; 31:19-22.

63. Later, Judge Ramirez‘Amaya reéuested that .his secrétary
Place yet another call to the National Police to a?range £6r‘them
to accompany him and his secretary to the scéne of the crime, the
Chapel of the Hospital of the Divine Providence. The police |
never arrived. Judge Ramirez Amaya waé‘forced to take thg‘
evidence, the bullet fragments and the X-rays, with him. Judge
Ramirez Amaya and his secretary had to travel to the crime scene
in Judge Ramirez Amaya’s private vehicle. Hr'g Tr. 8/24/04
(Ramirez Amaya), 33:8-15; 34:14-17.

64. When Judge Ramirez Amaya arrived at the chapel around
11:30‘p.m., Florentin Melendez and Roberto Cuellar, éhe two
lawyers for the Archdiocese’s Human Rights Office, were preéent.
No police were present. Hr'g Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirex Amaya}, 33:6-
18; 34:15; Hr'g Tr. 8/26/04 (Hernandez), 146:9-18, 21-23; 147:9-.
10.

65. Judge Ramirez Amaya and the others canvassed £he small
chapel in search of the bullet. They took measurements to
determine the range and distance from which the shot could have
been fired. They thoroughly searched for any type of ewvidence
but found none. Hi'g Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 33:19-25.

66. A short time before midnight, Judge Ramirez Amaya drove
his secretary to the court, where his secretary stayed instead of
returning to the secretary’s home as it would have been extremely
dangerous to drive there. By this time, Judge Ramirez Amaya

observed Army tanks on the streets and police patrolling with

ig
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automatic weapons. Hf'g Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirex Amaya); 34:2-13.

67. Because the National Police neve# came to pick up the
evidence, Judge Ramirez Amaya took the bullet fragments an& the
X-rays with him to his home. Hr’g Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amﬁya)f
34:14-17. | -

68. The next day, March 25,‘1908,'Jﬁdge Ramirez Ama?a.went
to his chambers at the Fourth Criminal Court. There, he
organized the files on the case and ihe book of acknowledgmént 80
that it could be.transcribed. He also was made aware of the
publishéd advertisement announcing Archbishop Romero’s |
celebration of the memorial mass for Sara Meardi de Pinto the
previoué evening. Hr'g Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 26:20-24;
34:19-22, 23-25; 35:18-21. |

69. The National Poliée‘finéllf weént to the crime scene
four days after the assassination. The police did not collect
evidence nor did they provide the investigating judge any
information or evidence to assist in the investigation. IACHR
Decision, 99 46, 88, 89; Complaint, ¥ 18.'

70. Despite a National Police analysis confirming Judge
Ramirez Amaya’s conclusion that the projectiles extracted from
Archbishdp Romero’s body came from a .22 caliber bullet, these
conclusions never appeared in the judicial file of Archbishop
Romero’s case. The X-rays also disappeared from the judicial
file. TC Report, p. 128; IACHR Decision 99 46, 90; Complaint,
Y 1s.

71. Pedro Napoleon Martinez wasg alleged to have been an
eyewitness to the flight of the assassgins. At the chapel, he

assisted in moving Archbishop Romerc’s body for transport to the

18
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hospital. Twenty days after the assassmnatxon, on April- 13,

1980 P. Martinez was kidnaped and disappeared. His

disappearance was never investigated. Complaint, § 18; Hr'g Tr.

8/26/04 (Hernandez), 149:18-22, 25, 150:1-4; 152:22-23; Hr'g Tr.

8/27/04 (Karl) 129:4-130:16; Ex. 34 (photograph shawing Martinez

helping to remove Romero from .the chapel); IACHR Decision, 99 11,

103-104.

72. 1In the months following the assassination, seve:ai
other suspicious events occurred, obstructing any investigatibn
of the murder of Archbishop Romero. These, included: ‘'

) On July 5, 1980, the offices of Socorro Juridico were
searched by the National Police and the files
concerning Socorro Juridico’s investigation of the
assassination were removed and were never seen again.
IACHR Decision, § 106; Hr’'g Tr. 8/26/04 (Hérnﬁndeé).
148:1-15, 20-23; 149:7-10. _

. In 1980, both.the Director of Socorro Juridico, Roberto
Cuellar, and its staff attorney working on the
investigation of the assassination of Archbisﬁop
Romero, Florentin Melendez, were forced to flee E1
Salvador after receiving death threats. Hr’g Tr,
8/26/04 (Hernandez), 146:9-16; 21-25; 147:1-25; Ex. 42
(photo of Melendez at autopsy). |

D. Attack on Judge Amava.

73. On March 25, 1980, Judge Ramirez Amaya received a
telephone death threat at his home. Altogether, on March 25 and
26, Judge Ramirez Amaya received three or four telephoned death

threats., In one instance, his thirteen-year old daughter, who
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1| answered the phone, was asked her favorite color. She was told
2 || that ﬁthat was the color they would paint the coffin that they
3 | would have [Judge Ramirez Amaya] in.” Hr'g Tr. 8/?5/04 (Ramirez
"4 || Amaya), 39:2-10; 41:16; IACHR Decision § 114. |
5lE 74. On'March 27, 1%80, at about';bzls P.m., 'two men knocked j
6| at Judge_Ramireg Amaya’s door. The men claimed to know a friend
7 | of the Judge. Ramirez Amaya told his‘housekeeper to carefully
8 | open the door. The two men entered‘his‘home. Hr'g Tr. 8/25/04
9 | (Ramirez Amaya), 39:11-22; 40:4-5.

- 10 75. Judge Ramirez Amaya, armed with a twelve gauge'shotgun,
11 || stayed in the be&r&cm. He opened the bedroom door, peeked out,
12 | and realized that he did not know the men. He told them to be
13 ]| seated. Hr’g Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramiréz Amaya), 39:22-23; 40:5-9.

14 76. One of the man iﬁmediatel&IPdliéd an automatic weapon
15 | from a briefcase he was carrying. Judge Ramirez Amaya responded
16 | by pulling out his shotgun. As Judge Ramirez Amaya was about to
17 fire‘at them, his housekeeper ran towards him. Hr’'g Tr. 8/25/04
18 | (Ramirez Amaya), 40:10-15; IACHR Decision 9§ 112.
19 77. One of the men fired the gun at Judge Ramirez Amaya.
20 | However, since the housekeeper was in the way, the gunman missed
21 j| the ju&ge and, instead, wounded the housekeeper. She was injured
22 | in the back and the buttocks area. She fell towards Judge
23 | Ramirez Amaya, who was not able to break her fall. Hr'g Tr.
24 [ 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 40:17-22; IACHR Decision, €9 11, 112.
25 78. The men immediately fled from Judge Ramirez Amaya’‘s
26 | home. Outside, they shot at the house énd the tires of Judge
27 § Ramirez Amaya’s car. Hr'g Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 40:23-25;
28} 41:1-2.

21
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1 79. Judge Ramirez Amaya ﬁhen heard noises 6n.éhe'roof‘of_
2 [ his house. He began to fire his shotgun out thé-windost iﬁe was
3 | mindful of the fact that within recent weeks, Mario zémora, the
-4 || Attorney General of El1 Salvador, the ma&or of the City of San
" 5] Miguel had been killed in a similar fashion. Hr'g Tr. 8/25/04
6 | (Ramirez Amaya), 41:4-11. A ' " '
7 80. Judge Ramirez Amaya yvelled to his wife “Joeefiné, théy
8 | are going to kill us, just like they did with Mario Zamora,” and
9 furged her to fire a pistol out the windows. In addition, Juége
10 | Ramirez Amaya protected his daughter by throwing a mattress over
11 | her. He crawled through his home and listened for the attackers.
12 | Finally, the noises stopped. Hr’g Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya),
13 -41:12-2C‘ ‘ '
14 (81. Breaking the silence ten minutes 1ater,rth; phone rang.
15 | The voice on the other end said, “Doctor, this is Elicio Séto
16 || from the National Police.” This voice was familiar to Judge
17 || Ramirez Amaya as he had known Soto, now a National Police
18 || inspector, since childhood. Ramirez Amaya’s mother had assisted
19 | Soto in obtaining his job with the police. Hr’'g Tr. 8/?5/04
20 [ (Ramirez Amaya), 41:21-25; 42:1-9.
21 82. Next, in a surprised tone of voice, Soto said to,
22 | Ramirez Amaya, “Doctor, you are alive.” Judge Ramirez Amaya
23 | answered, “Yes, I am happy to be alive.” Soto replied, “Don‘t
24 | worry. Perhaps they were just trying to scare you.” Hr'g Tr.
25| 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 42:10-15.
26 83. Within a half hour, family and friends, whom Judge
27 || Ramirez Amaya had télephoned, arrived at his house. When he
28 || opened the door for them, Judge Ramirez Amaya also greeted some
22




|| of his neighbors and the night watchman. 'The nightiwatchman

2 informed Judge Ramirez Amaya that the pclice must have been

3 “deaf” because two marked police vehicles had been parked on the

4 street during the assassination attempt and did not move. Hr'g

5[ Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 42:16-.20,' .24-25;. 43:1-5, 6-9.

6 84. One of Judge Ramirez Amaya‘s students at the National

7 || University, the boyfriend of his neighbors, was visiting his

8 [ girlfriend at the same time as the attack. He confidentially

9 inforn@d Judge Ramirexz Amaya that he saw that three persons were
10 | involved in the attempted mnrdér of the Judge. In addition to
11 || the two men who enﬁered the house, one remained behind in the

12 j get-away car. He told Ramirez Amaya that he personally knew the
13 i man at the wheel of the car to be a member of the National

14 || Police. Judge Ramirez Amaya knew that the neighbor’s boyfr;end
15 || had worked with the National Police. Hr'g Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez
16 || Amaya), 43;10-25.

17 '85, The night of the attempt, a group of police detectives
18 || arrived at Judge Ramirez Amaya’s home and inquired what was

19 | happening. They dismissed the assassination attempt as the work
20 )| of “amateurs” that they could have prevented from happening. No
21 Jf further investigation occurred thereafter. ‘Hr’g Tr. 8/25/04

22 | (Ramirez Amaya), 44:3-6; 46:12-22; IACHR Decision, 99 115, 11s.
23 86. At this point,'Judge Ramirez Amaya told his wife they
24 |l would be killed by the police so they had to leave El1 Salvador.
25 || Despite the fact that he had a ticket to go to Venezuela two days
26 | later, Judge Ramirez Amaya determined that, with police control
27 || of the airports, traveling by plane would be too risky. BHe

28 || arranged to leave by boat through the Gulf of Fonseca and to

23
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travel directly to Nicaragua. Complaznt {1 1s; Hr g'Tr. 8/25/04
(Ram;rez Amaya), 43:25; 44:1-2, 20-25; 45:1-4, 6-9.

87. Judge Ramirez Amaya went to the hospital thq.next déy
to vigit his housekeeper. He found thaﬁ'she had not been
admitted to the hospital. She was still lying on the floof inw
the hallway. A doctor explained.that they did not intend to
remove the bullets and would send her home the next day. ﬁx’g
Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 44:7-19. '

88. Judge Ramirez Amaya then resigned his position and fled
El Salvador. Judge Ramirez Amaya was not able to retuin to El
Salvador for almost ten years. Complaint, § 18; Hr’g Tr. 8/25/04
(Ramirez Amaya), 21:7-11, 19-20; 45:10-13; IACHR Decision, § 46.

89. The assassination attempt against Judge Ramire:z Amaya_
was never investigated. Hr’g Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirexz Aﬁaya), 44:3.
6. '

90. The Truth Commission concluded that *“[t]here is
sufficient evidence that the failed assassination attempt against
Judge Atilio Ramirez Amaya was a deliberate attempt to deter
investigation of the case.” TC Report, pp. 127, 128, 131, IACHR
Decision § 54 (citing with approval the finding of the TC
Report).

E. The Funeral for Archbishop Romero.

91. For one week after the assassination, Archbishop
Romero’s body was available for viewing by the public. His
coffin was never alone. Different communities were a part of
thies ritual by leading the activities and mass each day; Hr'g
Tr. 8/27/04 (Guerra), 59:13-17; Hr'g Tr. 8/26/04 (Cortina),

111:10-18; Declaration of Julia Elvira Chacon, Y 8, filed
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92. On March 31, 1980, the funerallfbr Romero was held at
the cathedral in San Salvador. 'Thé National Palace, located next
to the cathedral,'was an official goverqment building, |
inaccessible‘to-the public, and couldfbe entered only by
government officials. The day of the fﬁﬁeral, the palacé.was
closed. Noneﬁh&less,sduring the funeral mass, bombs were thrown
into the crowd from a window at the‘far'end_of the Nationéig
Palace. Additiohally, government officials in civilian clothes
were stétioned én the roofs of the National Palace and
surrounding buildings. After the bombs were thrown, government
officeré in plainclothes on the roofs opeﬁed fire on the crowd.
Hr'g Tr. 8/26/04 (Cortina), 115:1df1§, 25; 116:1-4, 24-25; Hr'g
Tr. 8/26/04 (Acosta), 40:1-2, 18-20; 39:12-20; Kr'g Tr. 8/27/04
(Guerra), 60:19-21.

93. The bombs and gunfire caused the approximately 100,000
people at the funeral tc run in fear. Many in the crowd were
trampled. The priests who had carried Archbishop Romero’s casket
were foréed to take his body inside the cathedral and hurriedly
pPlace it in the burial wvault for fear that it would be stolen.
About 5,000 people crammed into the cathedral in search of
safety. Once Archbishop Romero was buried, the priests
encouraged those in the cathedral to sing. Hr’'g Tr. 8/27/04
(Guerra), 61:7-20; Hr’'g Tr. 8/27/04 (Acosta), 40:1-8; Hr'g Tr.
8/26/04 (Cortina), 115:4-8. See also Declaration of the Rev.
Charles Harper, Y 16, filed 9/01/04; Declaration of Carlos Ayala
Ramirez, 9 9, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Philip Berryman, ¢

22, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Julia Elvira Chacon, 9§ 9, filed

25
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8/20/04;-Dec1aration of Maria de la Luz Cue?a Sanﬁanﬁ}‘1 7. filed

8/20/04; Declaration of Pierre Jean DeClarcq, § 8, filed-8/20704;
Declaration of Jose Humberto Giron Pez, Y 9, filed 8/20}0&)

$4. After about two hours, some ofithe priests went outside
to the piaza. They recovered seventeen. dead bodies; Not uhtil,
4:30 in the afternoon were all the priests and nuns who had been

trapped in the cathedral able to leave under Red Cross

‘protection. Hr’g Tr. 8/27/04 (Guerra), 61:21-24; 62:6-8, 17-19;

Ex. 65 (photo of dead bodies at funeral); Ex. 66 (photo of nuns

leaving cathedral at funeral). !
V. FAILED EFFORTS TO PROSECUTE ARCHBISHOP ROMERO'SVKILLERS_ _
A. The Arrest of D'Aﬁbuisson‘ Saravia, Garay and Others at

the San Luis Finca on May 7, 1980. ' '

+

85. On May 7, 1880, twelve civilians and twelve military
personnel met at a farmhouse near San Salvador known as the'San
Luig Finca. They included D’Aubuisson, Saravia and Garay, as
well as numerous other persons associated with El Salvador’s
rightwing death squads. At the meeting, D’Aubuisson gave his .45
millimeter handgun to Garay to hold while he was inside'the
farmhouse. Hr’g Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 121:12-122:13; Hr'g Tr.
8/24/04 (White) [White Dep. 43:18-44:14); Hr'g Tr. 8/27/04.
(Rarl), 152:17-153:5; Ex. 122 (May 8, 1980 U.S. diplomatic
cable}); Ex. 125 (May 12, 1980 report of Maj. José Francisco
Samayca); TC Report, pp. 28 and 129.

96, While the meeting was going on, troops from the
Salvadoran Army’s First Brigade raided the farmhouse, afresting,
among others, D’Aubuisson, Saravia and Garay. The raid had been

ordered by Col. Majano, a member of the five-man Revolutionary

26
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Governing Junta. Hr'g Tr. 8/24/04 . (White), [White bep. 45:13~
47:5]; Ex. 122 (May 8, 1980 U.S. diplomatic cable).

87. Numerous documents were seized during the raid which
implicated many Qf those arrested in the assassination of

Archbashop Romeroc, a coup plot, and other seriousg' crimes., Hr’'g

Tr. 8/24/04 (White) [White Dep. 40:10-20 and 63:14-64:2]}.Ex.

-122, BEx. 125; BEx. 127 {(June 19, 1980 U.S. diplomatic_cable):

Declaration of Todd R. Greentree, Y{ 5 & 7, filed 8/20/04; Hr'g
Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl), 3:6-12, 4:10-12, 5:9-16; _

98. Members of the Juntaland-experts contacted by 6.5.
Ambassador White céncluded that the “Operacion Pifia” documents
seized at the San Luis Finca, along with the so-called “Saravia
Diary,” referred to tﬁe plan to éésgssinate Archbishop Romero.
Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (White), fWhite‘ﬁéﬁ. 35;2-39:2]; Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04
(Rarl), 19:15-22:10; Ex. 122 (May 8, 1980 U.S. diplomatic cable);
TC Report,‘p. 128.

>99. On May 12, 1980, Col., Majano lost his influence over
the Junta when Col. Jaime Abdul Gutiérrez was appointed President
of the Junta by the High Command of the Armed Forces. That same
day, several newspapers published a message from a group calling
itself “death squad” that demanded the release of D’Aubuisson and
the others arrested at the San Luis Finca. TC Report, p. 204,
n.24. '

100. D’Aubuisson and the others arrested at the San Luis
Finca were soon released without ever being interrogated, much
less prosecuted for any of the crimes for which they were
implicated. Col. Majano was removed from the Junta by the end of

the year, and was forced to flee El Salvador not long afterwards.
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Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay); 123:15-124:4; Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (White),
[White Dep. 47:9-14]; Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl), 9:15-17, 32:1-6; TC
Report, pp. 28, 29 and 205, n.29.

B. Failed Investigations During the Early and Mid-1980s.

101. The investigation of Archbishop'Romerb'é murder-wés;
not pursued by the Government of El Salvador in the months
following the killing and was actively thwarted in many wéys. in
June 1984, José Guerrero, a member of the ARENA party, Robéito
D’Aubuigson’s personal lawyer, and a former delegate to the CAL,
the regional anti-communist league, was named as Public
Prosecutor of El Salvador by the Legislative Assembly, which at
the time was controlled by ARENA and its allies. IACHR Dédision
at § 120; Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl), 51:11-17. ' : '

102. On December 12, 1984, the Fourth Criminal'Court's
investigation of the Romero assassination was formally closed.
IACHR Decision at 9 14.

103. The Fourth Criminal Court’s investigation was reopened
in 1985, Id.

104. On May 21, 1985, the Legislative Assembly, wﬁich wés
no longer controlled by ARENA, dismissed Guerrero as the Public
Prosecutor “for not meeting the well-known requirements of
morality and competence.” However, Guerrero wag quickly
reinstated by the Salvadoran Supreme Court of Justice, which
ruled that his dismissal had been unconstitutionmal. Id. at
9 120.

105. 1In August 1585, the Public Prosecutor, Guerrero,
submitted the statement of Robert Adalberto Salazar Collier

(“*Pedro Lobo”) to the Fourth Criminal Court. At that time
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”?Guerrero did not.mention that the videotaped “confeséion“ of
é“Pedro Lobo” had first been presented by Major D’Aubuisson during
| the March 1984 electoral campaign, and that it had been .
fimmediately discredited when it was dete;mined that “Pedro-Lobo"

| was a common criﬁinal who had been inc;rcerated frém 1979 through
:élSBl'and who had admitted that he had.béeﬁ-offered $50,Gﬁﬁ‘to
'Eéonfess to beiﬁg an accomplice in the assassination of Archbishop

| Romero. IACHR Decision at § 50, n.43; TC Report, p. 1289,

C. The Failed Extradition Effort of 1987-1988.

106. In January 1986, President José Napoledn Duarte.

’appointed a Commission to Investigate Criminal Acts (“the

Investigative Commission”) to give impetus'to the Romero
investigation. IACHR Decision at { 14.
107. The work of the Investigative Commission led to the

discovery of Amado Antonio Garay, Saravia’s former driver.. On

November 20, 1987, the Investigative Comhission presented Garay

to Judge Ricardo Alberto Zamora Pérez of the Fourth Criminal
Court, who took Garay’s sworn statement. 'IACHR Decision at ¢ 52;
Complaint, Y 20, TC Report at p. 130.

108. On November.24, 198?, Judge Zamora charged Saravia
with aggfavated homicide in wviclation of Article 53 of the
Salvadoran Penal Code for his alleged role in the murder of
Archbishop Romero. Judge Zamora issued an arrest warrant for
Saravia, and an extradition request was duly issued to the United
States. TC Report, p. 130.

109. On November 25, 1987, the United States Department of
Justice filed a Criminal Complaint against Saravia in the United

Stateg District Court for the Southern District of Florida, and
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that court issued a warrant fo# his arrest. U.S. v! Alvaro
Rafael Saravia Merino, Case No. 87-3598-CIV, (S.D. Fla.
11/15/87). The November 25, 1987 affidavit of Sharon L. .

Kegerreig, an Assistant U.S. Attorney for the Southern District

1
2
3
4

! 5| of Florida, filed in support of the Complaint identifiea Sarév;a
6 | as a citizen of El Salvador who was born on February 16, 1946 in
7 | Santiago de Maria, Usulatan Province, El Salvador. U.8. v. I
8 | Alvarc Rafael Saravia Merino, Affidavitlof Sharon L. Keggrfeis at
9

¢ s.
10 110. On November 27, 1987, Saravia was arrested'in Florida
11 jl pursuant to the arrest warrant. U.8. v. Alvaro Rafael Saravia
12 | Merino, Case No. 87-3598-CIV, “Certification of Extraditability
13 | and Order of Commitment” (S.D. Fla. Sept. 27, 1988), p. 1; '
‘14 || Complaint, Y 20. ’

15 111. Saravia, reportedly with funding for his'leQaI costs
16 | provided by Major D’Aubuisson, filed habeas corpus petitions in‘
17 | both the U.S. and Salvadoran courts. See Saravia v. U.8., 88-
18 | 01975-CIV-TES (S.D. Fla.). On October 3, 1988, the United States
19 | Ambassador to El Salvador, William Walker, sent a dipldmatic

20 | cable to the United States Secretary of State regarding “The

21 || saravia Extradition and the D’Aubuisson Mafia.” Ex. 96, p. 1.

22 | Ambassador Walker reported the following to the Secretary of

23 i State:

24 There is ample circumstancial [sic] evidence that an
effort is underway to obstruct the extradition from the

25 U.S5. of Cpt. Alvaro Rafael Saravia, the cashiered
Salvadoran Air Force officer charged with complicity in

26 the March 24, 1980 assassination of Archbishop Oscar
Arnulfo Romero. The effort is traceable to Roberto

27 D’Aubuisson and associates through a document telefaxed
from D'Aubuisson’s Mariscos Tazumal office to Saravia’s

28 U.S. lawyer for entry into the Saravia extradition
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court records.
* *A *

The Mariscos Tazumal fax identification clearly links ‘

the Saravia defense to an entire realm of coup .

Plotters, death squad chiefs, kidnappers, baby robbers,

mad bombers, car thieves, and other assorted criminals.

None, however, has ever been convicted, and prosecution

is unlikely as long as D‘Aubuisson and his backers are

free to ma?ipulate the Salvadoran’ judicial system.
Ex. 96, pp. 1 and 8. _

112. On December 19, 1988, the Constitutional Division of
the Supreme Court of Justice of El1 Salvadof issued a decision
ordering the Fourth Criminal Court-to stop the investigaéion of
Saravia and to withdraw the warrant for his arrest. U.3. v.
Alvaro Rafael Saravia Merino, Case No. 87-3598-CIV, “Government’s
Motion to Dismiss-Extradition Prbéegdings" (8.D. Fla. Dec. 28,
1988) (attaching a certifiéd‘tranéiétiOn“of the Salvadoran
court’s decision).

113.l No member of the Salvadoran Supreme Court had been
presént when Garay gave his statement. The Chief Judge of the
Supreme Court at the time was the same José Francisco Guerrero
who had served as D'Aubuisson's personal lawyer and who had
submitted the discredited “Pedro Lobo confession” to the Fourth
Criminal Court when he was the Public Prosecutor in 1985, I1d.,
Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl), 51:11-53:1, 55:23-56:10.

114. The U.N. Truth Commission found the Salvadoran Supreme
Court “played an active role that served to hinder the
extradition from the United States and later imprisonment of
Saravia in El Salvador.” The Truth'Commission interpreted the

decision as politically motivated. Complaint, Y 20; TC Report,

P. 131; IACHR Decision, ¢ 98.
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115. On December 28, 1988, the U.g. Dlstrlct Ccurt for the

Southern District of Florlda vacated the Certlflcate of “
Extradltablllty and Order of Commitment and ordered the United
States Marshals to release Saravia, U.s. v. Alvaro Rafhal
Saravia Merino, Case No. 87-3598-CIV, “Order of Dismissal and
Vacation.” (S.D. Fla. Dec. 28, 1988), | 7

116. No further efforts have ever been made in E1 Salvador
to prosecute Saravia or anyone else for the murder of Archbishop
Romero. Complaint, ¢ 21. '

D. End of Civil War.

117. From 1980 to 1992, El1 Salvador was engaged'in full-
8cale civil war, caused in paft by the assasgination of
Archbishop Romero. 1In 1990; the parties began informal talks
about the possibility of negotiating a peace agreemept. Actuél
negotiations continued from 1990 to 1992. A formallcease gire
and Peace Accords were signed in Chapultepec, Mexico, on January
16, 1992. The peace agreement required the dismantlihg of the
Treasury Police and the National Police because they “were so
thoroughly repressive and corrupt that they could not be saved.”'
However, the death squads that operated out of those forces were
not entirely dismantled. Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04 (White), [White Dep.
55:13-56:1}; Hrg. Tr. 8/27/04 (Acosta), 41:2-6; 42:6-21; Hrg. Tr.
8/25/04 (Karl), 75:6-18, 93:3-16.

E. United Nations Truth Commission.

118. In accordance with the Peace Accords, the United
Nations established a Truth Commission that began investigating
crimes committed since 1980. Tt was set up in July 1992 and was

composed of former Colombian president Belisario Betancur, former
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Venezuelan foreign minister Reinaldo Figueredo PlanbhartL and

|| George Washington University law pfofessor Thomas Buergenthal.

The Truth Commission’s reporf en “serious acts of violence” since
1980 entitled “From Madness to Hope: the 12-Year War in E1 .
Salvador: Report gf the Commission on the Truth for El Salvador,”
was released on March 15, 1993, at theaﬁnited‘Nations. The peace‘
agreements'alsoscommissioned the fruth Commission to make “legal,
political or édministrative" recommendations that were either
general or related to specific cases. The Truth Commiséipn was |
delegated two specific powers: the power to make investigations
and the power to make recommendatibns. The Parties to thé peace
agreement had agreed to be bound by the T;uth Commisgsion’s
recommendations. TC Report, p. 11, 18-25; Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04
(Karl), 75:19-21. -

115. The Truth Commission testimony attributed almost 85% of
all abuses. to agents of the government of El Salvador, aliied
paramilitary groups, and the death squads; TC Report, p.l43.
Among other things, the Truth Commisgsion concluded that:

. Violence in the 1980s “originatéd in a political mind-

set that viewed political opponente as subversives and
enemies.” TC Report, Pp. 43,

. ‘Those who promoted opposing ideas that questioned
official policy were automatically labeled subversive
and deemed to be working for the guerrillas. TC
Report, p. 43.

. In the early 1980s, violence in rural areas was
“indiscriminate in the extreme.” TC Report, p. 44.

. Several members of the armed forces admitted and gave
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120.

details of their involvement at the highesﬁ levels.in
the organization, opetation and financing of thé déath
squads. TC Report, p. 132.

Between 1980 and 1991, human rights viclations were
committed in a systematic and ordganized ménner bf |
groups acting as death sguads. TC Report, p. 132.

Many of the civilian and military authorities inrpbwef
during the 1980s “participated in, encouraged and'
tolerated” the activities of the death squads. TC |
Report, p. 132, 137. '

The intelligence sections of many armed fofces units
operated on the death squad model, dressing in civilian
clothes and driving unmarked cars. TC Report, p. 136.
Salvadoran exiles living in Miami “direct1§~financed”
certain death squads. TC Report, p. 137. '

The 1ack of effective action by the judicial system was
a factor in maintaining impunity for “members and
promoters” of the death squads. TC Report, p. 137.
None ©f the branches of government were capabie of
restraining the military’s overwhelming control of
society. TC Report, p. 172.

The judicial system suffered from a “glaring inability”
to investigate crimes or to enforce the law, especially
with regard to crimes committed or supported by
government institutioms. TC Report, p. 178.

Based on these findings, the Truth Commission

recommended, among other things:

The discharge of officers in the Salvadoran armed
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forces who were named in.the report. TC Report, p.

176,

. The appointment of a new Supreme Court.l TC Report, p.
177. |

*  Elimination of the défense‘of'“due‘obe&ience” for

soldi?rs who carry out -orders that are clearlyfillagal.

TC 'Report, p. 179.

. The subordination of the ﬁilitary to civilian

authorities. TC Report, p. 1789.

L The eradication of illegal armed groups by “ali

necessarf measures.” TC Report, p. 180,

. Review of the constitutional rules which led to
“tremendoué,concentratibnf of power in the hands of the
Supreme Court,'pérticuléfiy ité President. TC‘Report,
p. 181.

121..Thé Truth Commission was unable to recommend specific
penaities because, as it found: “El1 Salvador has no system for
the administration of justice which meets the minimum
requirements of objectivity and impartiality so that justice can
be rendered reliably. This is a part of the country’s current
reality and overcoming it urgently should be a primary objective
for Salvadoran society.” TC Report, p. 178.

F. Amnesty Law.

122. On March 20, 1993, five days after the Truth
Commission Report was released at the United Nations, the
Legislative Assembly of El Salvador adopted the General Amnesty
Law by Decree No. 486 (“Amnesty Law”). IACHR Decision, ¢ 55;
Hrg. Tr. 8/26/04 (Hernandez), 126:3-10, 128:4-12; Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04
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(Roht-Arriaza), 130:16-21, 131:14-17. | o

123. The Amnesty Law grants a “broad, absaluta and..
unconditional amnesty . . . in favor of all those who in one way
Or another participated in political crimes, crimes. with
political ramifications, or common crimeS'committed byrno ieés'
than twenty people, before Januéry 1, 1992.” The Ammnesty Law
extends to indirect perpetrators and accomplices as well,-and
includes those who have been convicted, indicted or not yeﬁ
charged. Id. At Art. 1, 4,

124. Shortly after passage of the Amnesty Law, ©on March 31,
1893, Judge Luis Antonio Villeda Figueroca applled the Amnesty Law
to Saravia and dismissed with prejudice the case against him for
the murder of Archbishop Romero. Specxflcally, Judge Villeda'
found that the Romero assassination was a “polltlcal".crlme'whlch
provides Saravia with amnesty under the 1993 Jaw. Judge
Villeda’s decision was upheld by the First Criminal Chamber on
May 13, 1993, which entered a final judgment in the case because.
the time for the Office of the Public Prosecutor to file a motion
had expired without any action. The First Criminal Chamber ruled
that its decision has res judicata effect with regard to Saravia
in the Romero case. IACHR Decision, Y94 22, 98, n.100, 101;
Amnesty Law, Art. 2, 4{c).

125. The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights found in
2000 that “the application of the General Amnesty Law in the
[Romero] case eliminated the possibility of undertaking judicial
investigations aimed at determining the reéponsibility of all
those involved. In.addition, that decision violated the right of

the victim’s relatives and of society at large to know the truth
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about the events in question.” The IACHR Commission recommended

that the government of El Salvador pass legislation to nullify

‘the amnesty law. IACHR Decision, §Y 151, 159(3). '

126. No such legislation has ever been passed. The‘
Salvadoran Supreme Court has twice upﬁgld the constitutionality
of the Amnesty Law, in 1993 and 2000, 'Although the COurﬁ?s.ZOOO
decision,.post-dating the IACHR Decision does not foreclose
narrowing of the amnesty, in the twéive’years following: |
enactment, no pfésecutions have taken place for crimes and
individuals facially covered by the Amnesty Law. This igAbecause
the Public Prosecutor has interpreted the Salvadoran Supreme
Court decision to apply the émnésty law to all cases of human:
rights abuses. Hrg. Tr. 97/3/04 (Roht-Arriaza), 136:3-20.

127. Aside from the Aﬁnésty L;Q's'siocking prosecution of
Saravia fo; his involvement in the assassination of Archbishop
Romero, the passage of the Ammesty Law immediately following the
rele#se of the Truth Commission Report served to stifle
discussion of the report and frustrated the implementation of its
recommendations. This undermined the efficacy and purpose of the
entire truth-finding process. Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Roht-Arriaza)
130:16-21, 131:14-19. |

G. Inability to Publicly or Privately Pursue Justice in E1

Salvador.

(1) Fear of Reprisal.

128. Prior to the first democratically-elected government
taking office in El Salvador on June 1, 1994, the military and
security forces held enormous power. From 1980 to 1994, any

person who made allegations against active or former members of
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the military risked reprisal, including death. goweVer, citizens
did not just fear reprisals by the military. The AREﬁA=partf |
held great power in El Salvador in the 19808 and continues to.run
the government today. The ARENA party ﬁas founded by Roberto.
D’Aubuisson, who also founded the death squads thaﬁ opgratéd.ﬁq
direct concert with the Salvadoran armed forces. -Salvadorans
feared and continue to fear, not only retaliation from thé
military, but also from the ARENA-run government and its &eéth
squads. Complaint, § 22; Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya) , |
26:12-19; 493:3-12, 51:22-52:21. !

129. During the civil war, judges were murdered at a high
rate. Ae the Truth Commission concluded, “In the 19808, it was
dangerous to be a judge in El1 Salvador.” During that decade, '28
judgeé were killed. The judiciary could not defend itself
against violence. It “fell victim to intimidation and the
foundations were laid for its corruption. . . [I]ts
ineffectiveness steadily increased until it became, through its
inaction or its appalling submissiveness, a factor which
contributed to the tragedy suffered by the country.” Té Report,
pPp. 170, 172-73.

130. Even after the security forces were disbanded pursuant
to the Peace Accords, Salvadoran courts were still unable or
unwilling to hear most claims for human rights violations égainst
individuals for alleged involvement in financing, ordering,
assisting, or carrying out death squad killings, including the
assassination of Archbishop Romero. Even today, survivors of
torture and relatives of killings committed by Salvadoran death

squads and the armed forces as far back as the 1970= and early
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19802 have declined to bring claims - in E1 Salvador 6: elsewhere

against the individuals responsible, for fear of violent

‘reprisals. Complaint, § 22. | _ '

131. J. Doe, specifically, was afraid to bring a case
either inside or outside of El Salvador due to risks of violent

reprisals against plaintiff and plaintiff’s family. Although

J plaintiff has now brought this case, it is only with the

protection of anonymity provided by filing under the name J. Doe.
El Salvador remains a dangerous place, but changed circﬁmstances
now pefmit this case to be brought and improved cooperatfon of
witnesses in E1l Sal&ador now makes it possible to present this
case in a United States Court. Supplemental Declaration of
Plaintiff J. Doe, 1Y 4-6, filed 9/23/04.

132. Fear is a primary ieasbnnfhdtléases have never been
brought. ?he inefficiency and corruption of the El1 Salvadoran
judiciary contributed to the unwillingness of persons to assert
claiﬁs in the courts of E1l Salvador. The judiciary bore
“tremendous responsibility” for the impunity that persisted
during the civil war and displayed a “glaring inability” to

investigate crimes, particularly those committed with support of

‘the government. Tutela Legal, the human rights office of the San

Salvador archdiocese, brought more than 24,000 cases between 1982
and 1992. Of these, only about five or six were accepted by the
courts and eventually all the defendants in those cases received
amnesty. TC Report, p. 177-78; Hrg. Tr. 8/26/04 (Hernandez),
125:20-22,

133. The Truth Commission alsoc found that the El Salvador

Supreme Court held far too much power, “seriously undermining the
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independence of lower court judges and lawyers.” The Truth
Commission recommended that new justiceé be immédiately.haméd to
the Supreme Court and that the cpurt's powers be revised. TC-
Report, p. 177-78, 181,

134. In addition to all these obstacles, El Salvador’s 1993
Amnesty Law immunized nearly every person who had committed human
rights abuses before and during the civil war. See Section V.f.,
supra. |

(2) No Private Prosecutions in Romero Case Due to Fear

of Reprisals and Corruption of Salvadoran Judicial

System.
135. ©No prosecution has ever been brought by Archbishop

Romero’s family in El Salvador, even though Salvadoran law '
permits private citizens to initiate criminal procee&inga.
Victims of a crime, or their relatives, may bring a'privaté
accusation for crimes subject to ex officio proceedinge. Ag a
general rule, a private attorney acting as pProsecutor represents.
the victim and notifies the judge in writing of such
representation. Code of Penal Procedure, Art. 50; Hrg.'Tr.
8/26/04 (Hernandez), 127:4-13, 129:11-130:10.

136. However, fear of reprisal and the corruption of the
judicial system continue to prevent any private prosecution for
the Romero assassination. Tutela Legal spoke with two criminal
lawyers during the 1980s about bringing a private prosecution on
behalf of Archbishop Romero’s family, but both refused to take
the case for fear of reprisal. Even today private lawyers refuse
to bring a private accusation. This specific example refiects

the reality that very few private prosecutionsg have ever been
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brought for‘human rigﬁts violations and relatéd crimes. ' Hrg. Tr.
8/26/04 (Hernandez), 127:4- -13, 129:11- 130, Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04
(Ramirez Amaya), 26:13- 16, 52:8-11.

{(3) No State Prosecutions in Romero Cage.

137. Beyond the failed attempt to, extradite Saravia, which '
was abrogated. by Salvadoran courts, there have been no
prosecutions brought by the Salvadoran government for the

‘assassination of Archbishop Romero. .Public prosecutors are

W O ® N s W o ol

selected by the Congress. Congress is controlled by thé ARENA
10 § party and does not operate in an independent and non- partlsan
11 manner. In practice, public prosecutors will not even consider
12 | bringing a state case concerning the assassznatlon. Hrg. Tr.
13 | 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 52:5-7, 17-21; 53.15-45:1.
14 138. Even the modest efforté.po investigate the case were
15 | disrupted. The Truth Commission found £hat the official
16 investigation was “inefficient . . . highly controversial and
17l1p1agued by political motivations.” Thersﬁpreme Court also

18 || actively intervened to prevent Saravia’s extradition, thereby

18 Nensuring impunity for the perpetrators of the assassination. TC

20 || Report, Pp. 127-28.

21 {(4) No Civil Liability in Romero Case.

22 139. [REDACTED]

23 (5) Deterrent to Earlier Filing.

24 H 140. Due to the continuing climate of repression and active

25 || fear of reprisal, plaintiff was effectively inhibited from
26 | bringing this case in the courts of El Salvador and the United
27 || States. Although United States courts were independent from the

28 | intimidation and reprisal operative in El1 Salvador during the
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1990-2003 time period, the plaintiff was subject to ‘fear,
intimidation, and was deterred by the exémple tﬁat,tha_pridf
extradition attempt in a United States District Court had béen
thwarted by the Salvadoran court.

141. The totality of these conditions effectively bafrédl
Plaintiff from earlier filing this human rights case_uﬁtil the
Plaintiff’s lawyers and supporting organizations facilitated the

commencement and prosecution of this case in 2003.
A, Compensatory Damages. .
142. [REDACTED] . !
143. [REDACTED]
144, [REDACTED]
145. [REDACTED]

B. Archbishop Romero’s Enduring Legacy.

(1) Azrchbishop Romero’s Theological Infldence.

146. Archbishop Romerc’s legacy within the Roman Catholic_
Church is immense. The archdiocese of San Salvador, which he
served as Archbishop, has formally nominated him to be canonized
as a martyr of the church, and the Vatican is presentlf
conducting the formal canonization process. Hrg. Tr. 8/26/04
(Hernandez), 155:18-156:24.

147. Many already refer to him as a saint, often as “Saint
Romero of the Americas.” Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (Wipfler), 79:18~-
80:11; Hrg. Tr. 8/27/04 (Acosta), 43:15-18; Declaration of Philip
Berryman, ¢ 29, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Rosa Ncochemy Ortiz,
¥ 19, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Anna Lisa Peterson, Ph.D.,

9 8, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Fr. Paul Schindler, { 12,

filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Jean Stokan, ¢ 16, filed 8/20/04;
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Declaration of Thomas Quigley, {'7, filed 8/20/04.
148. 1In 1988, Westminster Abbey in London unveiled the
busts of ten 20" Century martyrs that now stand over the main

entrance to that historic church, Archbishop Romero is included,

the last of the ten to be killed. Hrg. Tr. 8/27/04 (Guerra),

ff64 :112-16; Declaratlon of Philip Berryman, § 29, FILED 8/20/04-
| Declaration of Eileen M. Purcell, q 20, filed 8/20/04,

145. Afchbishop Romero'’s thec}ogical influence'has_been
significant, contributing to ideas of tﬁe Christian chu&ch.aa the
“people of God"‘rather than as a formal and remote instiﬁﬁtion;
ideas 6f “accompaniment,” which guide Christians in their social
and political lives; broader understandiﬁgs of the Christian
concept of martyrdom;‘new coﬁcepts of 1eaéership within the
church, particularly prlests'_and nuns’ obllgatlons to exercise a

preferential option for the poor;” and ‘an understanding of the
church doctrine known as “Liberation Theology.” Declaration of
Carlos Ayala Ramirez, 9§ 22, filed 8/20/O4} Declaration of Fr.
Robert Stuart Pelton, 99 9-11, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Anna
Lisa Peterson, Ph.D., Y 4, filed 8/20/04;|Declaration of Eileen |
M. Purcell, Y 22, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Juan Sobrino y
Pastor, 8.J., Y9 5-7, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Prof. Juan
José Tomayo Acosta, Y9 9-10, filed 8/20/04.

150. In addition to his contribution to ideas, the model of
his actions embodies this theology manifested by his religious
and spiritual practices. The most evident example is hie
courageous denunciations of human rights abuses. Hrg. Tr.
8/24/04 (Gumbleton), 164:12-166:4; Declaration of Philip

Berryman, Y1 27-28, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Anna Lisa
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Peterson, Ph.D., § 5, filed 8/20/04. : Y e

- (2) Archbishop Romero’s International Influence as a

Proponent of Human Riqhts and Non-Vioclenca.

151. Archbishop Romerc’s courageoﬁs defense of human
rights, his solidarity with the poor, and his commitment to
nonviolence and democracy, all rooted in a deep and abiding
respect for the dignity of all human beings, in the face 6f reai

and continuing mortal intimidation which resulted in his

V- T T T N S G PR U

assassination, have been an inspiring model to the world. During

oy
o

his life he came to be known as the “Voice of the Voiceless,” and

-
(=

this mocdel has stood for nearly 25 years as one of the world’'s

et
[N

most revered beacons of hope. He has been compared to Martin

ILuther King, Jr., and Mahatma Gandhi. Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 ’

-
£

14 | (Wipfler), 80:12-81:17; Hrg. Tr. 8/27/04 (Acosta), 43:12-14,

15| 44:6-9; Declaration of President Oscar Arias S&nchesz, fﬂ.li-IB,
16 | filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Carlos Ayala Ramirez, 9§ 13, fiied_
17 | 8/20/04; Declaration of Maria Catriona Elena Bain de Alvarenza,
181§ 7, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Representative Michael D.

19 | Barnes, Y Vv, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Hector Miguei Antonio
20 || Dada Hirezi, § 25, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Representative
21 | George Miller, § 11, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Adolfo Perez
22 | Esqguivel, 9 11, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Eileen M. Purcell,
23| § 22, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Jean Stokan, § 15; filéd

24 || 8/20/04; Declaration of Archbishop Desmond Mpilo Tutu, § 4, filed
2541 98/20/04.

26 152. The impact of his murder is partially captured thrqugh
27 | literature and art. Plays honoring him have been produced

28 | worldwide, including the United States, France, and Germany.
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Numerous biographies'have been published about him in French,
German, Italian, English, Spanish, and Portuguese. There is a
major motion picture about his death; there are megical clinics,
student scholarships, community centers, and scholarship ﬁrograms”
bearing his name. Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 jﬁgri} 73:8-74:3.

153, . Archbishop Romero’s legacy as a continuing beacon of
hope is manifest. Each March 24, there are religicus services,
memorials and marches in his memory all over the world. 'Hfg. Tr.
8/24/04 (Gumbleton), 165:24- 166 15; Hrg. Tr. 8/27/04 (Guerra).
64:20-66:5; Exs. 78-82 (photos of memorials).

C. Due to His Stature and the Unique Role that he Played
Within El1 Salvador, the Damaqes'éaused by the
mm&mm%@mwmm
(1} MMMW-

154. Archbishop Romero was widely recognized as the one

person who could act as a bridge between the divided sectors of
Salvédoran gsociety. He was able to mediate labor disputes and
many other types of conflicts because he 'was the one figure in El
Salvador who was consistently respected and listened to by all
sides. He was viewed by the U.S. government and many others as
essential to any nonviolent or less-violent resolution of the
crisis gripping El Salvador at the time. Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04
(White), [White Dep. 21:1-22:5]; Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl), 74:13-
23.

(2) The Assassination of Archbishop Romerc was a Maijor

Catalytic Event that Helped to Precigitate Bl

Salvador’s Civil War.

155, ArbhbishoP Romero acted as a critical bridge between
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1 the‘polarized sectors of Salvadoran society. Eliminéting that
2 | bridge helped drive El Salvador into civil war., His killing -
3 | and the absolute impunity that his assassins enjoyed in its
4 || aftermath - signaled the futility of nonviolent methods of
| . . .
- 5f change. As Robert White, the then-U.S. Ambassador to El Salvador
]
6 || testified: '
7 Those who killed Monsignor Romero knew perfectly well
what they were doing and what they would accomplish. .
g8 They destroyed the one figure in El Salvador that could
have served as a bridge, as a creative interpreter :
9 between all the different sides.
10 And his removal by violence basically. sent a signhl
that - that no dialogue was warranted, that what the
11 Salvadoran rich and military were after was a total _
pressure of this burgeoning movement towards democratic
12 change.
13 [Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (White) [White'Dep. 28:15-29:13, 55:13-56:1];
14 || see also Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl), 74:13-23; Declaration pf
15 || President Oscar Arias Sanchez, § 7, filed 8/20/04; Déclaration of
16 | Philip Berryman, § 23, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Hector
17 | Miguel Antonio Dada Hirezi, § 17, filed 8/20/04.
is 156. The assassination also signaled that no one was safe.’
19 | The message was clear: “If the Archbishop could be killed with
20 |l impunity, then anyone could be.” Ambassador White testified:
21 the failure of the Salvadoran military to arrest and
keep under arrest Roberto D‘Aubuisson and Alvaro
22 Saravia and their fellow conspirators, their failure to
try them and convict them and put them into prison was
23 another lesson to the Salvadoran people that impunity
in El Salvador was alive and well, that there was no
24 chance of getting justice from the system. And,
therefore, the Archbishop not only did it - reinforced
25 the image of a military that was a law unto itself. It
also served as a recruiting tool for revolutionaries,
26 because if you can kill an Archbishop, you know, you
can kill anybody. No one is sacred.
27
28 | Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (White) [White Dep. 56:2-14]1; see also Hrg. Tr.
46




L T T N S N N o T I T B S R
e L I T Y = S - S S ™ T U U O

éHrg. Tr. 8/26/04 (Cortina), 110:16-20; Declaration of Eileen M.
| Purcell, § 10, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Carlos Ayala ;

| Ramirez, Y 18, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Plazido Erdozoin

| Gifon, { 31, filed 8/20/04.

LT TN B T A S ™

| 1980, shortly after his murder, the Frente Democratico

| the history of El Salvador to unite all factions of the left and

-much of the center, reflecting the extent to which the actions of

0f a guerrilla army - an action they had never been able to

9/03/04 (Karl) 91:20-21; Hrg. Tr. 8/27/04 (Acosta), 35:17-36:1;

Beroiz, § 7, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Maria Elena Galvin de
157. Romero’s death also fueled support for both the
unarmed and armed left, further polafizing the country. In:April

]

Revolucionario (“FDR”) formed; it wag the first organization in

the military had destfoyed'the'political center and driven its
remnants to ally with the left. Aréﬁbiéhﬁp Romerc became their
rallying cry and a major symbol for recruitment. Hrg. Tr.
8/24/04 (White) [White Dep. 56:1-57:1]; Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl),
75:24;76:19.

158. As repression continued, this also fueled the
establishment of a guerrilla army, which by the end of 1980, grew
from five small armed factions to the Frente Farabundo Marti para
la Liberacion Nacional {“FMLN”). 1In effect, the extraordinary
state terror launched by the military and security forces united

the armed left into a single command and produced the formation

achieve previously. Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl) 76:25-78:5.
159, With two armies confronting each other, El1 Salvador
had moved from widespread social conflict to a state of civil

war. Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl) 78:2-5.
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160. Other prominent members of the nonvioclent opposition

were murdered in the ensuing months, along with hundreds 6frlesa
prominent individuals. 1In vaember of 1980, six poiiﬁiéai
leaders of the nonviolent FDR weré killed by the armed forces.
Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl), 76:20-77:7; Hrg. Tr. 8/26/04 (Hernandez),
160:20-161:23.

161. The civil war betwéen the Salvadoran government and .
the FMLN raged for the nexf 11 years. TC Report, pp. 28-29 and
58-62; Exs. 67-72 (photos of death squad victims)}.

162. Murders in El Salvador increased significan;ly
following the Archbishop’s death, further immersing,the country
in violence. The month prior to his death (February 1980).237
people were killed; by June 1980, the number had grown to 1,000.
Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl) 79:16-80:5. '

163. The number of murders following the Archbiahop'qr
assassination increased yearly. While apprpximately 1,060
civilians were killed in 1979, this figure rose to weil’o#er
11,000 in 1980 and 16,000 in 1981. Many of the civilians killed
were young. As Ambassador White testified, “in the great |
majority, these were the killing of unarmed civilians, most of
them young, young men, young boys that were just rounded up and
herded and gunned down execution style. So, it was terrible. I
mean, I’d seen enough dead 15 year olds to, you know, to last me
the rest of my life.” Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (White) [White Dep.
24:21-25:5]; see also Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl) 83:17-21.

164. By the end of the war, estimates of civilian dead
ranged from 75,000 (USAID) to 80,000 (World Bank), far higher on

a per capita basis than in other cases of state terror such as
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Chile or Argentina.‘ ﬁrg. Tr. 9/5/04 (Katl), 78:8«13, 83:22-84:7.
165. The military, secﬁrity forces énd death squads were
responsible for “almost 85 ﬁercent" of these murders. TC Report,

P. 43.

166. In addltlon to the incalculable cost of the thousands
of lost lives, the economic damage was severe. The damage to E1
Salvador’s infrastructure is estlmated at $2.2 billion, including.
the destructlon of schools, hOSplta;F, gnd ¢linics. Hrg. Tr.
9/03/0& (Karl), 84:23-85:4. o

167. The dlsruptzon of livelihoods and the profound
dlslocatlon of economy and soc1ety resulted in the decrease in
domestic investment, the most important 1nd1cator of a country s
growth, from 22% of GDP in 1979 to 12% in 1989, despite huge
increases in U.S. aid. The.real GDP. declined by 12% during the
19808, and per capita income dropped 25%. From a development
bperspective, this hag been 1 generation of loss. By the énd of
the war, for example, health expenditures‘were a third of the
Latin America average, illiteracy was almost twice the Latin
American average, and infant mortality waé significantly higher
than the Latin American average. Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl), 85:12-
86:23.

(3) More than One Million Salvadofans Driven into

Exile.

168. At least 1.2 million Salvadorans - roughly one-fifth
of the population - were forced into exile during the civil war
that followed the assagsination of Archbishop Romero. In
addition, more than 600,000 Salvadorans were internally displaced

within the country. Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl), 87:3-10.

49




169. One of these refugees was Franciseco Agoa?a Arevalo. A
‘student of the Jesuit University of Céntral America,.he was |
forced to sleep outside for days to avoid attacks by ééﬁurity
forces and death squads. He was‘given‘an offer to join an arméd
opposition group, but declined due to his ngnviolenh principles.
He believed his only alternative was to fiee the country.
Seventy-two of Mr. Acosta’s relatives were killed during the war.
His family is now dispersed among 14 countries, and they speak
nine different languages. Hrg. Tr. 8/27/04 (Acosta), 36:2~38;22,
45:5-12, :
| 170. Another typical member of the Salvadoran diaspora is
Esther Chavez. She came under the suspicion of the Treasu:y
Police when she organized alday care center for children. She
had to flee the country after her father was céptured. Shé
stated that when she left in October 1980:

I have mixed feeling regarding that I was in some way

betraying my community. Because of my family’s

condition, I was able to leave the country. But the

majority of people that wag [siecl involved, they didn‘t

have that chance. And that’s why I felt I was

betraying my community and my belief,

And I was hoping that in two vears, I woﬁld be ablé to

go back and continue to work. But two years came to be
four, six and many years,

Hrg. Tr. 8/27/04 (Chavez), 14:22-16:11; 15:13-21.

(4) The Killing was Particularly Brutal.

171. The very public nature of Archbishop Romero’s

assassination made it brutal to those who experienced the loss.
As Archbishop Desmond Mpilo Tutu testified, “His assassination in
public, with his pecple, was reminiscent of the assassgination of

another great man, Mahatma Gandhi. Such a brutal act
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demonstrated the arrogance of the perpetratores, their total
disrespect for life and confidence in their impunity.”
Declaration of Desmond Mpilo Tutu, 9§ 4, filed 9/3/04. .

172. The killing of Archbishop Romero was of a différent

+

character from'many other atrocitieg'in El Salvador, a sniper’s
bullet as oppos?d to accounts of<tortufe'and grotesque bfﬁtality.
The powerful symbolism of Archbishop Romero’s killing was just as
brutal. He was killed while celebrating mass. The intentional
profaning of the sacred, perpetrating an attack upon a faith
deeply shared by the people, bne eyewitness, a nun, deséribed
the killing: |

I was in the left wing, four meters away from the altar
of the Temple of Atonement that he had dedicated with
oil on the sixteenth of July one thousand nine hundred
and seventy-four, and which thie day he consecrated
with his own blood at six fifteen 'in the afternoon. In
his homily he made reference to “the grain of wheat
that can’t give life if it does not die,” as though he
felt this would be his Post humus [sic] Mass. During
his homily he kept his eye on the main door, but then
‘he moved to the center of the Altar to lay out the
corporal before beginning the offertory. In that
moment from the main door an assassin’s bullet entered
rapidly and exploded his heart. Due to the instinct of
conservation, Monseflor Romero grabbed the table of the
Altar and pulled the tablecloth ontec which the hosts
fell without being consecrated, and Monsefior fell at
the feet of Christ, who had been his faithful model
since his childhood, his youth, as a Priest, as a
Bishop and as an Archbishop. 1In our Religious
Community we interpreted this painful event as God
saying, “TODAY I DON’'T WANT YOU TO OFFER BREAD AND WINE
AS ALWAYS. TODAY YOU WILL BE THE VICTIM, OSCAR.”

Declaration of Maria de la Luz Cueva Santana, Y 6, filed 8/20/04.

173. This symbolism affected those who were not Catholic as

| well. an Evangelical minister, Raidl Lopez Pacheco, testified as

follows:

What shocked me the most about the death of Monsefior
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Romero was the Cruelty of the moment in which he was
assassinated. For the entire Christian community the
mement most noble and sacred is the presentation of the
bread as the body of Christ; this has many implications
because it was Precisely at this point during mass when
he was assassinated. .

Declération of Rall Lopez Pacheco, ¢ 8,'fi1ed 8/20/b4;»seeralso
Declaration of Miguel Tomas Castro Garcia,lﬂ 5, filed 8/20/04_;
(alsc a Protestant minister). |

174. The killing of Archbishop Romero wasg pﬁrt of an .
overall strategy of the junta to attack the church, particularly
the adherents of Liberation Theoiogy. Killing the country’s
foremost religious leader while celebrating mass_most'powerfully
eXpressed this war on the church. Killing Romerc in this way
sent a message of terror and intimidation to all who.shared hig

COmmi;ment to the faith.

(5) It Became more Dangerous to Worship Foilowing

Archbishop Romero’s Murder.

175. Archbishop Romero’s killing served to unleash still
more terror directed against the church in El Salvador. More
Priests were killed or driven into exile, many hundreds of
catechists (lay church activists) were killed, and it became
increasingly dangerous and difficult to participate in any
religious services. Some worshipers were forced to practicé
their faith ¢landestinely. Hrg. Tr. 8/27/04 (Guerra), 66:13-
67:10; Hrg. Tr. 8/26/04 (Hernandez), 161:3-18; Hrg. Tr. 8/27/04
(Chavez), 11:3-12:5, Declaration of Rosa Nohemy Ortiz, 99 11 &

15, filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Rigoberta Menchii Tum, Y9 6-7,

[
filed 8/20/04; Maria Catriona Elena Bain de Alvarenga, Y9 6 & 8,

filed 8/20/04; Declaration of Maria Clelia Flores Iraheta, ¢ 14,
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(6) The People We;e Deprived of Their Protector.

176. The death of Archbisho§ Romero caused many to feel
that they were without protection from the repressibn. For many, .
his role as the “Woice of the Vozceless;" meant that he was their
only protectlon against attack. Many felt profoundly bereft and
afraid. Hrg. Tr. 8/26/04 (Cortlna}, 110.21-22, Declaratlon of
Maria Elena Galvan de Girém, 19 29-30, filed 8/20/04.

177. The loss of the one who was their Protector created an
atmosphere of fear that was acutely felt. See, e.g., Deélaraticn

of Meria Leonor del Carmen Chacén, Y9 5 & 7, filed 8/20/04.

(7) Many Shared a Sense of Profound Logs, as

Archbishop Romero wag Revered by many Almost as a

Member of their Family,

178. Julia Elvira Chacén is a housewife who first met
Archbishop Romero in 1963. Whenever he was in her town, he would
drop in and she would “make some beans and a hot sauce thé way he
liked them.” On March 24, 1980, her brother-in-law told her that
he was there in her town, and sc she went home to make dinner for
him. The table was ready when she received the news that he had
been killed. She is an old woman now,.bﬁt tbat memory persists.
There will always be an empty place at her table. Declaration of
Julia Elvira Chacén, 9§ 5-6 & 14, filed 8/20/04.

179. Sara Sortoc de Lopez, a dressmaker, testified that she
was “greatly impacted by the death of Monsenor Romero,” and
recalled that he “enjoyed listening to the marimba and he came to
my house to listen to it being played.” Declaration of Sara

Sorto de Lopez, 1Y 5 & 7, filed 8/20/04.
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180. The death of Archbishop Romero caused many to

experience profound sadness and horror. 'See, e(g.,rneciaration
of Anay Emerita Gonzalez de Sosa, { s, flled 8/20/04; Declaratlon
of Concha Marina del Carmen Leiva Argueta, ¢ 6, flled 8/20/04;
Declaration of Rigoberto Membreno, Y 8, filed 8/20/04;
Declaration of Ramon Eleazar Moran Colorado, § 7, filed 8/20/04;
Declaration of Maria Leonor del Carmen Chacon de Romero, § 7,
filed 8/20/04. | _ '

181. One reason that so many so petsonally felt therlosa
was the presence Archbishop Romero represented in theix lives.
Most of the country heard his homilies broadcast every Sunday.
One could walk from v;llage.to village in the countryside and not
miss a word, as it was heard from radios in every house‘and but
along' the way. Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (White) [White Dep. '15:20-16:7];
Declaration of Fr. Paul Schindler, § 5, filed 8/20/04;
Declaration of Transito Ruano de Castro, § 4, filed 8/20/04.

(8) The Impact of the Killing has been G;ggg;ggg_ggg.

Reached Sociological Dimensions.

182. The brutal, public and highly symbolic murder of

Archbishop Romero, the “Voice of the Voiceless,” during a
troubled time in El1 Salvador’s history when the country teetered
on the brink of civil war, has had a profound impact upon those
who survived the ensuing war, whether within El Salvador or among
those who fled. Feelings of helplessness, powerlessness, fear,
and genuine despair, within both the spiritual and social realms
were experienced by many, and many were overwhelmed. A
psychologist who works with refugees, Felix Kury, testified to

this:
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1 Healing the scars of war and violence of these refugees
is a difficult task. And it might be that all these

2 activities help alleviate their suffering. For many of
the relatives of the 75,000 civilians that were killed

3 in the last twenty years, healing takes a quite '
different and profound meaning. Families will have to

4 pPerceive that their loss and rain were not in vain.
Since “El Dolor” (their pain) was,collective, healing !

5 will also have to be in a dialectic process that comes '
from the social to the particular individual situation.

6 ) R .o B

7

8

9

Declaration of Felix Kury, § 5, filed 8/20/04; see also Hrg. Tr.
9/3/04 (Karl), 87:14-89:1. :

l 183. Holding accountable those responsible for Archbishop

10 | Romero’s murder is one means ﬁo facilitate this healing.

11 | Declaration of Felix Rury, Y 5, filed 8/20/04 (“The trial of

12 || individuals involved in the death of Romero would be a

13 | significant part of the healing of all Salvadorans everywhere.’) .

14 | As Francisco Acosta testified,

15 To me personally, and I am for sure for the members of
my family, the point is: Should we forget? Should we

16 forgive? How can we move on? Because this is heavy in
misery for us. Extremely heavy. The fact I was

17 ‘invited to be a witness in this time, in this place, ie
& way to get a closure, saying, justice is done. I can

18 move on in my life. -

1% | Hrg. Tr. 8/27/04 (Acosta), 45:17-23.
20
21 CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

22
23 ] 1. SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION.

24 184. Plaintiff brings this case under the Alien Tort Claims
25 | Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1350 (the “ATCA”), and the Torture Victim

26 || Protection Act, Pub. L. No. 102-256, 106 Stat. 73 (1993)

27 || (codified at 28 U.S.C. § 1350 note) (the “TVPA”). This Court has

28 | jurisdiction over thig action under the ATCA and 28 U.S.C.
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II. PERSONAL JURISDICTION. .

185. This Court has personal jurisdiction over ﬁeféﬁdant
Saravia, who is or was a resident in Moﬁesto, California, at the
time this action commenced and who continues to reéeive mail at
2401 Manor Oak Drive, Modesto, California 95355, where he was
served with process in the Eastern District of California;

186..‘Substitute service was affec;ed on September Ls}and
October 18, 2003, following attempts to serve the defendant -
personally, by leaving a copy of the papers with the dwner of
2401 Manor Oak Drive, Modesto, California 95355, the address at

which Saravia had been residing and at which he is continuing to

receive mail, and by then mailing the papers to Saravia at the

Modesto address. Proof of Service, filed January 9,i2004.

187. Service is valid under Fed. Rule Civ. P.'4(é)(1f,
which permits service “pursuant to the law of the state in which
the district court is located,” and California Code Civ. P.

§ 415.20(b), which authorizes service at a person’s “usual
mailing address other than a United States Postal Service post
office box, in the presence of a competent . . ., person
apparently in charge of his or her coffice, place of businegs or
usual mailing address . . .+ at least 18 years of age, who shall
be informed of the contents thereof, and by thereafter mailing a
copy of the summons and of the complaint . . . to the person to
be served at the place where a copy of the summons and complaint
were left ., , , [~

188. A registered process server served the Summons and

Complaint and related papers on the owner of the usual mailing
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1| address for saravia, personally on. October 18, 2003, and
2 | explained the nature of the papers, and thereafter by mail on
3 || October 21, 2003, to Defendant's usual mailing address, 2401
4 | Manor Oak Drlve, Modesto, Callfornla 95355,
5 i18s, Based on a verified declaratlon under ‘penalty of '
6 perjury of substltuted service, the Court entered Saravia’ s
7 | default by Order of the Clerk dated Aprll 13, 2004. _
8 190. Substitute service has been made on the correct.Alvaro
9 § Rafael Saravia. The Alvaro Rafael Saravia who was living at and
10 | continues to receive mail at 2401 Manor Oak Drive, Modesto,
11 § California, shares the same birthdate - February 16, 1946 - with
12 ;he Alvaro Rafael Saravia sought to be extradited to El1 Salvador
13 { to face charges in connection with the assassination of
14 || Archbishop Romero; Smith Decl. ﬁf’é-s; Ex. A; Criminal
15 § Complaint, U.S. v. Alvaro Rafael Saravia Merino, 11/25/87, and
16 supportiné affidavit of Sharon L. Kegerreis, { 5. That same
17 | report shows that Saravia is associated with a previous address
18 || in Florida and has a Social Security Number issued in Florida
19 || between 1985 and 1986, where he was known to be living at the
20 || time the extradition proceedings commenced. Smith Decl. 9 4-5.
21 I Ms. Olsson, who lived at and owns the 2401 Manor Oak Drive
22 | residence met Saravia in Miami, told Saravia about the type of
23 || city Modesto was, and Saravia moved to Modesto. Ms. Olsson was
<24 || told by Saravia that he had family in Miami and Ms. Olsson knows
25 || that Saravia used to be in the Salvadeoran Air Force. Kaufman
26 | Decl. 9% 4-5,
27 191.. The evidence preponderates that the correct Alvaro
28 | Rafael Saravia was validly served with the Summons and Complaint
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in Modesto, California, on September 15 and Octoﬁer_ia*and 21,
2003. | o
I1YI. DEFAULT PROCEEDING.

192. The entry of default deems Séravia to have admitted
every well-pleaded allegation of the complaint excépt thdsé
relating to damages. Bender Shipbuilding & Repair Co., Imc. V.
The Vessel Drive Ocean V., 123 F.Supp.2d 1201, 1208 (s.D. Cal.
1998); see also United States v. Woody, No. CIV.S-98-0442, 1999
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5088 (E.D. Cal. June 2, 1999). The entry Of
default conclusively establishes a defendant’s liabili%y.
Adriana Int’l Corp. v. Thoeren, 913 F.2d 1406, 1414 (9% Cir.
1990) ; Bender Shipbldg. & Repair, 123 F. Supp. 24 at 1208}'Taylor
Made Golf Co., Inc. v. Carsten Sports, Ltd., 175 F.R.D. 658, 661
(S.D.lCal. 1987); United States v. Wight, No. CIV.S-§8-0442; 2001
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22785 (E.D. Cal. Dec. 14, 2001). '

1893. Here, the facts pleaded in the Complaint estab;ish
Plaintiff’s claims of extrajudicial killing in violation of the
TVPA and extrajudicial killing and crimes against hﬁmanity in
violation of the ATCA. This alone is sufficient to estgblish
Saravia’s liability, although Plaintiff also has presented
independent evidence in support of its claim, and evidence. to
establish its damages. Fed. R. Civ. P. B5(b).

Iv., LIABILITY UNDER THE TVPA AND ATCA

A, The Statutory EScheme.

(1) ATCA.
184. The ATCR states:
The district courts shall have original jurisdiction of

any civil action by an alien for a tort only, committed
in violation of the law of nations or a treaty of the
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United States. | B ' '
28 U.8.C. § 1350.

195. In Sosa v. Alvarez—Mﬂchain, the United States Supreme
Court held that the ATCA givee federal courts jurisdiction to
hear claims by an alien for torts in violation of the law of
nations. It does not itself provide a cause of action, but
provides jurisdiction over certain international law claims, to
the extent those claims have been inébrﬁorateé into the common
law. As the Court explained:

In'sum, although the [ATCA] is a jurisdictional statute

creating no new causes of action, the reasonable

inference from the historical materials is that the

statute was intended to have practical effect the

moment it became law. The jurisdictional grant is best

read as having been enacted on the understanding that

the common law would provide a cause of action for the

modest number of international law violations with a

potential for personal liability at the time.
Scoga v. Alvarez-Machain, 124 S. Ct. 2739, 2761 (2004).

196. When the ATCA was enacted in 1789, only three torts
were recognized under the common law as being violations of the
law of nations “with a potential for personal liability:”
violation of safe conduct, infringement of the rights of
ambassadors, and piracy. Id. at 2761.

197. A majority of the Court found, however, that the
“international law violations” recognized by federal common law
did not remain frozen as of 1789. “We assume, too, that no
development in the two centuries from the enactment of § 1350 to
the birth of the modern line of cases beginning with Filartiga v.
Pena-Irala, 630 F.2d4 876 (2d Cir. 1980}, has categorically

precluded federal courts from recognizing a claim under the law

of nations as an element of common law; Congress has not in any
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relevant way am@nded'§ 1350 or limited civil common law power by
another statute.” Sosa, 124 8. Ct. at 2761. However, the

recognition of a claim under the “present-day law of nations” ae

an element of common law is circumscribed to “norm[s] of

international character accepted by‘tﬁg_civilized‘world and

défined with a specificity comparable to the features of 'the

-18“—centufy paradigms we have recognigeﬁ." id. at 2761-2762.
198. The norms amenable to beiﬁg the subject of the ATCA

must be “specific, universal and obligatory.” Id. at 2765.

199. As described below, both extrajudicial killing and
crimes against humaﬁity meet the specific, universal and
obligatory standard. |

~(2) Tvea. |
200. The TVPA was pasée& by'céﬁgrégé in 1991 and enacted in’

11992, 106 Stat. 83 (passed Mar. 12, 1992). It sets forth an

unambiguous and separate jurisdictional basis for civil actions
in feaeral courts for redress against the acts of extrajudicial
killing and torture. S. Rep. No. 102-249, p.3 (1991); H.R. Rep.
No. 102-367, pp. 2-3 (1991). The TVPA was intended explicitly to
ratify the ATC by denoting that aliens also can bring a claim
under its aegis. H.R. Rep. No. 102-367, pp. 3-4 (1991).

Further, the TVPA extended the civil remedy to United States
citizens. S. Rep. No. 102-249, p.3 (1991); H.R. Rep. No. 367,

p.3 (1991).2

? A federal court alsoc has jurisdiction over a claim brought
by a U.8. citizen under the TVPA pursuant to its general federal
gquestion jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331. Estate of Cabello
v. Fernandez-Larios, 157 F. Supp. 2d 1345, 1355 {S.D. Fla. 2001)
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201. As the U.S. Supreme Court recently stated in Sosa,
“[A] clear mandate appears in the Torture Victiﬁ Protection Act
of 1991, 106 Stat. 73, providing authority that ‘establishles] an
unambiguous and modern basis for’ federal claims of torture and
extrajudicial killing.” H.R. Rep. No. 102-367, pt. 1, p.3
(1983); Sosa, 124 8. Ct. at 2763.

202. The TVPA states:

2.(a) An individual who, under actual or apparent

authority, or color of law, of any foreign nation . . .

(2) subjects an individual to an extrajudicial killing

shall, in a civil action, be liable for damages to the

individual’s legal representative, or to any persdon wheo

may be a claimant in an action for wrongful death.

28 U.S.C. § 1350 (note).

203. Although the TVPA provides a statutory basis for a'
claim for extrajudicial killing, the enactment of_thé TVPA did
not diminish the scope of the ATCA in any way. Kodic Q..-'
Raradzic, 70 F.3d 232, 241 (24 Cir. 1995) (“[t]lhe scope o£ the
Alien Tort Act remains undiminished by enactment of the Torture
Victim Act.”); see also Wiwa v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Company,
No. 96 CIV.8386, 2002 WL 319887, *4 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 28, 5002)
(“This Court reads Kadic I to hold that the TVPA did not preempt
torture and summary execution claims under the ATCA. . . .. In
fact, no court that has evaluated ATCA claims since the enactment
of the TVPA has held that the TVPA in any way preempts ATCA
claims for torture and extrajudicial killings . . . . [Tlhe TVPA

simply provides an additional basis for assertion of claims for

torture and extrajudicial killing.”); see also S. Rep. No. 102-

{(citing cases).
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249, p.3 (1991),{“Thé ATCA has.. . .. important uses'and should
not be replaced”); accord H.R. Rep. No. 102-367, p.3 (1991).
f Plaintiff may assert a claim for extrajudicial killing under both

the CVPA and ATCA.

+

B. Plaintiff Has Standing to Bfing Thig Action Under the
i TVPA and ATCA. C '

(1) TVEA.

204, [REDACTED]

205. [REDACTED]
206. [REDACTED]
(2) ATCA.

207. The ATCA has no explicit standing requirements. To
ascertain, however, wﬁether Plaiﬁtiff has standing to bring a
claim under the ATCA, the Cbuit eitﬁér'féilows the approach of
the TVPA to lock to California law (which establishes standing
here), or employs a choice of laws analysis to look to Salvadoran
law. See Sosa v. Alvarez-Machain, 331 F.3d 604, 632-33 (9* Cir.
2003) (employing choice of law analysis) '(issue not reached by
the United States Supreme Court in Sosa, 124 S. Ct. 207). The
former approach, was adopted in Xuncax v. Gramajo, 886 F. Supp.
162, 191 (D. Mass. 1995); cf. Papa v. U.S., 281 F.3d, at 1012
(finding TVPA closest analogue to ATCA for purposes of
determining statute of limitations under ATCA). The application
Eof Salvadoran law does not affect the outcome.

(3) Salvadoran Law.

208. If a choice of law analysis is undertaken, the Court
locks to the law of El Salvador, but only to the extent it does

not frustrate the purpose of the ATCA. See Tachiona v. Mugabe,
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234 F. Supp. 2d 401, 419 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (choice of law
détermination should not compel “disposzitive application-df l
foreign law where the municipal rule of decision may conflict
with federal law or international stand#rds"); see also Figartiga
v. Pena-Irala, 577 F. Supp. 860, 863-64 (E.D.N.Y. 1-984)7 (“the
court should consider the interésts of Paraguay to the extent
they do not inhibit the appropriate enforcement of the applicabie
international law or conflict with the public policy of the.
United States”).

209. [REDACTED] )

210. In El1 Salvador, a civil law jurisdiction,'a civil
action for wrongful death méy be brought only in connection with
a cri@inal action, as part of the penal proceeding. The civil
proceeding arises from criminal responsibility. See'Salva&oran
Civil Code Art. 2065 (“the person who commits a felony or a
misdemeanor has the obligation to compensate, independently of
the punishment established by the law for that particular
fact.”); see also Art. 114, 115, 116, 117 & 130 of the Penal
Code; Art. 69 and 89 of the Code of Penal Procedure; Hré. Tr.
8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 47:6-10; Noya Decl. Y9 3, 4.

211, [REDACTED]

C. Equitable Tolling Avoids the Bar of the Statute of

Limitations.

212, Plaintiff filed the Complaint on September 12, 2003.
Although there is no express limitation period prescribed by the
ATCA, the Ninth Circuit has held the applicable limitations
period to be the 10-year period set out in the TVPA. U.S.C.

§ 1350, (note) § 2(c) 28; Papa v. U.S., 281 F.3d at 1012 (“the
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statute of limitations applicab;é to the ATCA is tﬁat prgvided by
the TVPA.») | |

213, Courts, however, have held that the 10-year TVPA -‘
limitation pariod‘is subject to equitable tolling. Hilao v.
Marcos, 103 F.3d 767, 773 (g% Cir. 1896); Cabello, 157 F. Supp.
24 at 1367-68 citing cases and quotiné‘HgR. Rep. No. 102-367, at
5 (1991). ‘The &abel;o court concluded that “the TVPA’'s ten-year

limitations period is equitably tolled, where either Y (1)

.defendant’g wrongful conduct prevented plaintiff from asserting

the claim; or (2) extraordinafy circumstances outside thé
Plaintiff’s control made it impossible to timely assert the
claim.’” 14, at 1368 (quoting Doe v. Umocal Corp., 963 F. Supp.
880, 897 (cC.D. Cal. 1997).(opini¢n vacated on other grounds by
Doe v. Unocal Coxb;, ____F.3d __;;'EOOB WL 359787 (9*® Cir. Feb.
14, 2003)) and citing Forti v. Suarez-Mason, 672 F. Supp. 15631,
1549 (N.D; Cal. 1987)). This is consistent with the policy
expressed by the Court in Forti, 672 F. Supp. at 1548, “of
providing a forum for claims of viclations of internationally
recognized human rights.” See also, S. Rep. 102-249, p.10 (“the
legislation provides for a 10-year statute of limitations, but
explicitly calls for consideration of all equitable tolling
Principles in calculating this period with a view toward giving
justice to Plaintiff’'s rights.”).

214. Forti held that the inability to obtain justice from
Argentina’s courts could provide a basis for tolling the
limitation period:

Plaintiffs claim that it was impossible for them to

gain relief for defendant‘s wrongdoing n the courts of
Argentina from the time their claims accrued until the
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i demoncratically-elected {[sic] government assumed power. ‘
As defendant points out, plaintiffs were not actually
2 denied access to the Argentine courts. Nominally, the
Argentine courts retained their powers to adjudicate
3 civil claims against military officers and to grant
habeas relief. As a practical matter, however, access
4 to Argentine courts may have been denied to plaintiffs.
. Plaintiffs present facts indicating that the court
.5 retained of its powers over the milita: in form on}l :
and that effectively, no relief was or could be granted
& by the Argentine courts. Additionally, given the : ‘
pervasiveness of the military’'s reign of terror, it may .
7 be possible for plaintiffs to demonstrate that members
of the fjudicia neglected to apply laws grantin ,
8 relief out of fear of becoming the next victim of the
“dirty war.” ‘ ‘
S
10 672 ¥, Supp. at 1550 (emphasis aded). ' !
11 215. 1In this case, there is clear support in the Complaint
12 { and in the record for tolling the limitations period. As in
13 {f Forti, Plaintiff could not have obtained justice from Salvadoran
14 || courts as a result of Plaintiff’s lawyers, and some ﬁudges'
15 | objective and reasonable fear of retaliation or judicial
16 | complicity with the repressive regime. This fear extended to ‘
17 | proceedings brought outside of El Salvador as well. Supplemental
18 || Declaration of Plaintiff J. Doe, { 4, filed 9/28/04.
15 216. The evidence is that from 1980 to 1994, and even
20 | through to the present, any person who leveled allegationse
21 § against active or former members of the military risked reprisal,
22 | including death. Complaint, § 22, Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez
23 || Amaya), 26:12-19. Salvadorans also feared retaliation from the
24 || ARENA-run government and its death squads, which worked closely
25 | with the armed forces. Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amavya), 52:12-
26 || 21. |
27 217. Judges were murdered at a high rate. As the Truth
28 || Commission concluded, "“In the 1980s, it was dangerous to be a
65




-1 judge in El Salvadox{" and during that decade, 28 jﬁdges were
2 | killed. TC Report, p. 170. The judiciary had little power to
3 )l defend itself against violence. It “fell victim tq intimidation
4 | and the foundations were laid for its corruption. . . . {i]ts ‘ ' o
5 || ineffectiveness steadily increased uné;i it became, through its |
6 ]| inaction or its gppalling submissivenesé;‘a factor which'
7 | contributed to the tragedy suffered by the country.” TC Repo:t,
8[| pp. 172-73. ' ‘
9: 218. “Even after the Salvadoran security forces were
1O|Edisbanééd pursuént to the Peacé Accords, Salvadoran courtﬁ were
11 || still unable or unwilling to hear most claims for human rights
12 || violations against individuals for alleged involvement in
13 || financing, ordering, éssisting, of carrying out death squad
14 { killings, dincluding the asséséinatiéﬁ of.hrchbishop Romero.”
15 Compl#int, 9¢ 22, Hrg. Tr. 8/26/04 (Hernmandez), 127:6-13, .129:11-
16 || 130:10; Hrg. Tr. 9/03/04 (Karl) 51:19-25, “Even today, survivors
17 | of tdrture and relatives of killings committed by Salvadoran
18 | death squads and the armed forces as far back as the 1970s and
13 || early 1980s have declined to bring claims in El Salvador or
20 || elsewhere against the individuals responsible for fear of violent |
21 | reprisals.” Complaint, § 22, Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl) 88:21-89:1.
22 | In fact, the plaintiff has brought this case under a pseudonym
23 | precisely because of fear of reprisals.
24 219. Due to this same fear of violent reprisals, plaintiff
25 |l was unable to bring this claim in 2 U.S. Court earlier. Although
26 | plaintiff has now brought this case, it.is only with the
27 || protection of filing under the pseudonym J. Dce. El Salvador
28 | remains a dangerous place, but changes in the country have now
66
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-allowed plaintiff’s attorneys to investigate the'casefand~obtain

the cooperation of witnesses in E1 Salvador. .Sﬁppléﬁéhéil"
Declaration of J. Doe, Y 4-5, filed 9/28/04. LT

220. 1 thwarting extradition of Defendant Saravia, in
judicially validating Amnesty laws, and in'rejectihé.airedt{'}

credible evidence of Defendant’s participation in the ‘

.assaseination, the courts of El Salvador have foreclosed the

opportunity for plaintiff’§ cage to be maintained beforejtﬁe-'
Judicial gystem of El Salvador and have evidencedrtheir inahility
and unwillingness to provide a fair, honest, and reliable forum
for the hearing of Plaintiff’'s claims. |

221. For these reasons, the 10-year limitation pe:ibd
applicable to the TVPA and ATCA has been equitably tolled through
the date of filing of the complaint, September 12, 5003.

D. Defendant ig Liable Under the TVPA for Extrajudicial -

Killing.

222. Under the TVPA,

2.{a) An individual who, under actual or apparent

authority, or color of law, of any foreign nation.. . .

(2) subjects an individual to an extrajudicial killing

shall, in a civil action, be liable for damages to the

individual’s legal representative, or to any person who

may be a claimant in an action for wrongful death,

28 U.S.C. § 1350 (note).

223. Extrajudicial killing is defined as “a deliberate
killing not authorized by a previous judgment pronounced by a
regularly constituted court éffording all the judicial guarantees
which are recognized as indispensable by civilized peoples.” Id.

at § 3(a). The TVPA also requires that a plaintiff exhaust

“adequate and available” local remedies and provides a ten-year

€7
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|| statute of limitations. Id. at § 2(b) and (c).

(1) Saravia’s Role in the Assassination.

224. BSaravia’s role in coordinating and planging the '

assassinatioﬁ‘of Afchbishop Romero is sufficient to establish

liability against him under the TVPA éné ATCA as a direct

; participant,rcOngpirator, accomplice{ and aider and abetﬁér,
225, In' Tachiona v. Mugabe, 216 F. Supp. 24 262, 270

(S.D.N.Y. 2002) the court found membérs of Zimbabwe’s ruling

party liable under the TVPA for “organiz[ing] targeted violence

e @ N At e W :

b
=

against political opponents and their families and supporters,

[
b

assassinations and assassination attempts, kidnappings, tortures,

[}
M

rapes, beatings, mass destruction of propérty, and mob riots in a

H
W

consistent and focused_campaign of terror designed to crush

=
-

political opposition to ZANU-PF.” dther cases have found

t

‘defendants -liable for authorizing or directing torture or.

killings. See, e.g., Kadic, 70 F.3d at 232.

(R
-I

226. As explained by the Court in Mehinoviec v. Vuckovic,

158 F. Supp. 24 1322 (N.D. Ga. 2002), the TVPA encompasses the

M
v o

liability of accomplices:

United States Courts have recognized that principles of
accomplice liability apply under thé ATCA to those who
assist others in the commission of torts that violate
customary international law. Similarly, the Senate
report on the TVPA notes that that statute is intended
to apply to those who “ordered, abetted, or assisted”
in the violation. '

NN NN
W N o+ o

24 Principles of accomplice liability are well-established
under international law. Relevant international

25 conventions explicitly provide that those who assist in
the commission of acts prohibited by international law

26 may be held individually responsible.

27 [Under the International Criminal Tribunal for the
Former Yugoslavial, it is sufficient that the

28 accomplice knows that his or her actions will assist

€8
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the perpetrator in the commission of the crlme.--e~~

Id. at 1355-56 (footnotes omitted); see also Wiwa, 2002 WL 319887
at *16 (“the Court finds that the language and 1eg;slative
history of the TVPA supports liability for aiders and abettors of
torture and extrajudicial killings.").l Cabello v. Pernandez
Larios, 205 F. Supp. 2d 1325, 1333 (S.D. Fla. 2002).

227. Saravia’'s significant involvement in Archbiahoﬁ
Romero’s assassination, which was not authorized by any previous
judgment of a court, includes the following: -

. Saravia was in charge of the operation and was involved

in paying the fees qf the assassin. Complaint, Y9 15,
19; TC Report, pp. 127, 130, 131; IACHR Decisioﬁ'
(citing with approval the findings of the TC Report),
99 3, 20, 43, 53, 54. ' |

. Saravia instructed his driver, Amado Garay, to drive - |-

him to a staging home. Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay},
103:22-25; 104:1-23; TC Report, pp. 127, 130-131.

. Saravia emerged from the house with a tall man with a
beard. Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 105:22-106:5. |

. Saravia told Garay to drive this man to an undisclosed
location. Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 {Garay), 105:9-106:3, TC
Report, pp. 127, 130-131.

. Saravia said to the tall, bearded man, “It’s better to
shoot in the head because maybe he have [sic] a
bulletproof vest. You have to be sure he got [sic]
killed.” Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 106:7-17.

. Saravia informed Garay that they would be provided with

Protection, as a vehicle would be driving behind him.
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Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 106:7-17.
. Saravia directed Garay to get info a red Volkswagen in
order to drive the tall, bearded man. The man had a
long rifle with a telescopic lens. Complaint, ﬂ 16, "
Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay),,16§;13-14f 18; 20-23; 107:17;
111:12-15; TC Report, p: 127, 130-131. o
. When Garay and the shooter returned to the staging
house, they wére greeted Sﬁ Séravia who informed the
shooter that he had succeésfully assassinated
Archbishop Romero, as Saravia had heard the new; on the
radio that the Archbishop had died instantly.
Complaint § 16; Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 109:20-22,
24-25; 110:1-4. ) '

. Saravia, Nelson Mér#les} ﬁélsbﬁ‘Garcia and Garay drove
”béck to Saravia’s house in a deep Cherckee, which was
the vehicle regularly used for transporting Saravia.
Hrg., Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 101:24; 115:7.

. Several days later, Saravia repbrted tc Major
D’Auvbuisson, “mission completed.” Complaint, ¥ 17,
Hrg. Tr. 8/24/04 (Garay), 127:1-11, 16-21.

. ~ Saravia also delivered a sum of money, which earlier
had been provided to him to pay the assassin, to the
assassin or his agent. Complaint, § 17; TC Report, p.
127, 131.

228. Based on substantial evidence, including eyewitness

testimony, the egregious and significant conduct of the

defendant, Saravia makeg him liable, as a direct participant, co-

conspirator, and aider and abettor, for the assassination of
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Archbishop Romero.
| (2) Apparent Authority.

229. Saravia acted under apparent authority and‘coldf of
law of the government of El Salvador. ﬁﬁder Section. 2(a) of the
TVPA, in order to make out a claim for extrajudiciai ki;ling,-'
plaintiff must show that Saravia acted “under actual or apparént
authority, or color of law, of any foreign nation.” Courté havé
generally required this showing for ext#ajudicial killing ciaima
under the ATC as well. See Wiwa, 2002 WL 319887 at *13. To meet
this definition, plaintiff must show “some .governmental
involvement” in the Romero assassination. See Kadic; 70 Ff3d at
245 (quoting H.R. Rep. No. 102-367, at 5 (1991)). |

230. Courts have looked to the jurisprudence of 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983 as a guide to determine when persons who are ﬁﬁtl
themselves government officials, nonetheless act undér~appa%ent
authority or color of law. Under § 1983, the standard is met
when a person “acts together with state officials” or acts with
“significant state aid.” Id. Other courts have applied the
virtually identical “joint action” test regquiring a “suﬁstantial
degree of cooperative action” between the defendant and the
government. Wiwa, 2002 WL 319887 at *13; see also Presbyferian
Church of Sudan v. Talisman Energy, Inc., 244 F. Supp. 2d 289,
328 (S.D.N.Y. 2003); Tachiona v. Mugabe, 165 F. Supp. 2d 259, 313
(S.D.N.Y. 2001).

231. Heré, plaintiff has demonstrated by substantial
evidence that Saravia acted under apparent authority and color of
law of the Salvadoran government. Specifically:

. The death squad responsible for planning and carrying
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oﬁt the assassination of Archbishoplkomero operated
"with the flnanc1al and loglatlcal support of the
Salvadoran armed forces and far right Salvadoran
civilians inside and outside El Salvador.” Complaiat:
19 12 14 TC Report, pp. 132,‘134 137,

In 1580, death squad operatlons were frequently
_coordmnated with the E1 Salvador Armed Forces. 'The
clandestzne nature of the;r actions made it posslble to
cover up the state responeibility and to create a
condition of total impunity for the killers. .
Complaint, § 19; TC Report, PP. 132, 134, 137; Hrg. Tr.
8/27/04 (Karl) 80:24-25, 81:1-8:

Death squads incorporated active members of the E1
Salvador state securzty forces .in their ranks and had
_the support of the correspondlng official institutions.
Complaint, § 19; TC Report, pPp. 132, 134, 137; ﬁrg. Tr.
8/27/04 (Karl) 80:24-25, 81:1-8, o

The Salvadoran government conspired to cover up
responsibility for the assassination. Complaint, ¢ 1s.
The National Police, contrary to standard operating
brocedure, did not provide security at the autopsy.
Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 27:5-7; 30:13-19.
Hours after Romero’s beody had been taken to the
Policlinica Hospital, armed soldiers in camouflage
uniforms filled the chapel and surrounding areas.
However, the National Police, contrary to the law and
standard operating procedure, refused to assist Judge

Ramirez Amaya in investigating the chapel as a crime
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scene later that night. Hrg. Tr. 8/26/04 (C‘ortina),
105:2-4; 108;: 10 14, 15-17, 18-19; 109:2- 10; Hrg. Tr.
8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 33:8-15; 34: 14-17.

. The National Police attempted,to murder Judge Ramirez
Amaya. Ten minutes after the'attempted ahsasainaticn
against him, a Natlonal Police 1nspectcr called Ram;rez
Amaya and expressed’ surprise that he was still alive .
and confirmed knowledge about the recent attempt on the
Judge’'s life. Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 41 :121-
25; 42:1-9, 10-15. Marked National Police vehicles
barked on the street did not move despite the gunfire.
Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramlrez Amaya), 42:24-25; 43;:1- -5, 7-
$. A neighbor identified the man in the getaway car as
4 National Policeman. Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez
Amaya), 43:10-25,

232. These facts more than preponderate to meet the'tests
of Kadic and wWiwa, that in carrying out the.assassination of
Archbighop Romero, Saravia acted under apparent authority and
color of law of the government of El Salvador.

(3) Plaintiff has Shown that no Legal Remedz wag or is

Available in E1 Salvador.

233. Under the TVPA, a claimant must show that he or she
has “exhausted adequate and available remedies in the place in
which the conduct giving rise to the claim occurred.” 28 U.8.C.
5 1350, (note) § 2(b). However, when foreign remedies are
“unobtainable, ineffeétive, inadequate, or obviously futile,~”
exhaustion of remedieg is generally not required. Xuncax, 886 F.

Supp. at 178. gSee also S. Rep. No. 102-249, P.9% {199])
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(plaintiff in a TVPA case may rebut alleged availabilityrof
domestic remedies by showing they are “ineffective, unobtainable,
unduly prolonged, inadequate, or obviously futile.”) Plaintiff,

has éstablished that no legal remedy was or is available in E1

Salvador for a civil suit‘against Safavia.

(i) 2Inability to Bring Civil Suit Without
Criminal Prerequigite Uﬁdgr Salvadoran Law.

234, Plaintiff cannot obtain é'ci?il remedy against Saravia
- Or any other person involved in Archbishdp Romero’s |
assassination - unless a crimiﬁal prosecution first occués. In
El Salvador, ae in other civil law countries, criminal

responsgibility is necessary in order to obtain civil damages -

flowing from that con&uct. NoyaADecl., Y 2; Hrg. Tr. 8/25/05
(Ramirez Amaya), 47:6-7, 6-10; see also Art. 130 of the Penal

j Code (™any person liable for a crime or misdemeanor is also

civilly liﬁble. Any person who has suffered injury arising from
a crime has the right to redress and compensation.”).

235. 1In particular, under Salvadoran law, homicide,
aggravated homicide and murde; are specific intent or public
actionable crimes. An action for civil liability for the killing
or wrongful death of an individual can only be brought as part of
the penal proceeding to in#estigate and prosecute such crime, and
the wrongful death action may only commence upon the termination
of the penal phase. Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 47:6-10;
49:13-17; see also Art. 90 of the Code of Penal Procedure {(“the
[ civil action against the participants in the crime will be only
brought in conjunction with the penal action.”).

236. Salvadoran law permits private citizens to initiate

74




v o 1 o (343 W [N ol

R T X T o N T R~ N B T T
N H O W ®m N O ! b W O

23
24
25
26
27
28

cr;minal proceedings. Vicfimﬁ of a crime, or theif rélativés;
may bring a private accusation fbr crimes subject to es offiéiq
proceedings. Art. 50 of the Code of Penal Procedure. As a
general rule, a private attorney acting as prosecutor xeprésents
the victim and notifies the judge in writing of such'_ .. o
representation. However, fear of reprisal and the'corruétion of
the judicial system continue to prevent any private criminai |
prosecution for the Romero assassination. See Hrg. Tr. 8/26}04
(Hernandez), 127:6-13; 129:11-130:6 (explaining unwillingness 6f
private attorneys to bring case). Even today private_lhwyers
would refuse to bring a private accusation in El.Salvédor.  Hrg.
Tr. 8/26/04 (Hernandez), 130¥7»10; Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez
Amaya), 52:8-11. ‘ '

237. Similarly, beyond the failed attempt to‘exéradite
Saravia, there have been no prosecutions brought by the ‘
Salvadoran government for the assassination of Archbishop Romero.
Public prosecutors are selected by the Congress. Hrg. Tr.
8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 53:15-18. Congress is controlled by the
ARENA party and does not operate in an independent and non-
partisan manner. Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 52:20-21;
53:19-54:1. 1In practice, public prosecutors will not even 
consider bringing a state case concerning the assassination.
Hrg. Tr. 8/25/04 (Ramirez Amaya), 52:5-7.

238. Because there has never been a successful criminal
prosecution against ﬁhe killers of Archbishop Romero, and the
opportunity to do so has effectively been abrogated, plaintiff

has no judicial reﬁedy in El Salvador.
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{ii) D’Aubuisson and the SaIvadcran Supreme Court

Actively Thwarted an Attempt to Obtain a
Criminal Conviction Againet Saravia. '

239. 1In the one attempt to pursue a prosecution in

.connectlon with the Romero assa351natlon, Roberto D’Aubuisson and
i the Salvadoran Supreme Court acted topensure that nc_prosécution
| would res#lt."See Ex., 96 {(“The Sarafia Extradition and the
%D'Aubuisson Mafia”) at 1. (™There iéiaﬁple circumstantial

Eevidence that an effort is underway to obstruct the extradition

from thé U.S. of Cpt. Alvaro Rafael Saravia, the cashiered
Salvadoran Air Force officer charged with'complicity in the March
24, 1980, assassination of Aréhbishop Oscar Arnulfo Romero. The
effort is traceable to. Rdberto D'Aubulsson and assoc1ates through

a document telefaxed from D'Aubuzsson's Marlscos Tazumal offlce

‘to Saravia’s U.S. lawyer for entry into the Saravia extradition

court records.”); id. at 8 (“prosecution is unlikely as long as
D’Aubuisson and his backers are free to manipulate the Salvadoran

judicial system.”).’

* D’Aubuisson’s interference with the extradition process
and the irregularity of the Supreme Court’s decision to dismiss
the charges provides a strong basis for disregarding entirely its |
decision to reject the testimony of Amado Garay as “not
credible.” The stated grounds for this decision were that (a)
Garay’'s statement was given more than seven years after the
assgassination; (b) Garay’'s testimony allegedly conflicted with
that of another witness; and (c¢) Garay was covering up his own
involvement in the killing. Government’s Motion to Dismiss
Extradition Proceedings filed December 28, 1988 (attaching
December 19, 1988 decision of Salvadoran Supreme Court). As a
preliminary matter, the Salvadoran Supreme Court’s decision has
no binding effect in this proceeding as the plaintiff, J. Doe,
was not a party to that case. Claim preclusion does not apply.
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' 240. The Chief Judge of the Supreme Court at tﬁe'tima was

tﬁe same Jose Francisco Guerrero who had served as Maj;;; 
D’Aubuisson’s personal lawyer and who submitted the notorious
“"Pedro Lobo confession” to the Fourth Criminal Court. when he was
the Public Prosecutor in 1985. Id.; Hrg. Tr. 9/3/04 (Karl);
51:11-53:1, 55:23-56:10.

241. The Commission found the Salvadoran Supreme Court
“played an active role that served to hinder the extraditioﬁ from
the United States and later imprisonment of former Capt. Sarafia
in El1 Salvador.” The Truth Commission determined the decision
was politically motivated. Complaint, § 20; TC Report, p. 131;
IACHR Decision, { 98. ' |

242. No further efforts were made in El Salvador to - '

prosecute Saravia or anyone else for the murder of Archbishop

In any event, no deference should be given to the 1988 decision
because that Court never had an opportunity to see Garay testify
in person and therefore was in no position to assess his
credibility. 1In contrast, Garay testified in this court and was
subject to wide-ranging guestioning to test his credibility. See
Mason v. Vasquez, 5 F.3d 1220, 1224-25 (9% Cir. 1893}
(emphasizing importance of trial judge’s ability to see
“variations in demeanor and tone of voice that bear so heavily on
the listener’s understanding of and belief in what is said”),
citing Anderson v. Bessemer City, 470 U.S. 564, 573-75 (1985).
Furthermore, due to the differences in procedures between the two
legal systems and significant questions about political
interference from D’Aubuisson (see, e.g., Ex. 96), neither comity
nor issue preclusive effect should be given to that decision.
See, e.g., Laker Airways Ltd. v. Sabena, Belgian World Airlines,
731 F.2d 909, 937 (D.C. Cir. 1984) (“the obligation of comity
expires when the strong public policies of the forum are vitiated
by the foreign act”); cf. Kremer v. Chemical Const. Corp., 102
S.Ct. 1883, 1897 (1982) (issue estoppel should not apply if there
is reason to doubt the quality, extensiveness, or fairness of
procedures followed in prior litigation).
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Romere. Complaint, ﬂlzl.

(iid) The Amnesty Law Further Ensured There Would

| ~Be No Remedy For Plaintiff in El Salvador.

243. Further ensuring that there would be no remedy in EL
Salvador, the Aﬁnésty Law provided thé;.Saravia would never face
criminal or civil responsibility for the assassinatiqn. gee
Amnesty Law, Arts. 1, .4. . |

244, Thus, on March 31, 1993, Judge Luis Antonio Villada
Figueroa appliedAthe Amnesty Law to.Saravia'and dismissed with
prejudiée the caée against him for the murder of Archbiship
Romero. TACHR Decision, Y 22, 98, n.100. Specifically, Judge
Villeda'found that the Romero‘assassinatidn was a “political”

crime which provides Saravia with émpesty under the 1993 law.

IACHR Decision, § 98, £n.100; Ammesty Law, Y 2, 4(c). Judge

1 Villeda’'s decision was upheld by the First Criminal Chamber on

May 13, 1993, which entered a final judghent in the case because
the time for the Office.of the Public Prosecutor to file a motion
had expired without any action. IACHR Dec¢ision, § 101. The
First Criminal Chamber thereby ruled that its decision has res
judicata (claim preclusive) effect with regard to Saravia in the
Romero case. IACHR Decisgion, Y 22. This decision bars any
criminal prosecution of Saravia for the Romero assassination in

El Salwvador.

(iv) IACHR Determined That Domestic Remedies Had

Been Exhausted.
245. Art. 46(1) (a) of the American Convention requires the
exhausting of domestic remedies before the “mechanisms of

international protection established in the American Convention
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are triggered.” IACHR Decision, ¥ 25. In finding tﬁatitheré.had.
been exhaustion, the IACHR stated that Judge Vilieda’a decision
applying the Amnesty Law to Saravia and dismissing with prejuﬁice
the case against him for the murder of ﬁrchbishop Romero “ha& the
effect of deciding the instant case in the'domestic'juriedictiop
.;Of El Salvador. Once this domestic means of settling the matter ‘

posed is exhausted in the internal jurisdiction of El Salvador,

the mechanisms of international protection established in.tﬁe'

- TN . T T Y R LR

American Convention are triggered.” IACHR Decision, q 25,

(o)
o

. 246. As found by the IACHR, and based on the evidence
11 | presented at the hearing, plaintiff has met the requirements of
12 || the TVPA by establishing that domestic remedies have been

13 || exhausted or that remedies are “uncbtainable, ineffective,

14 | inadequate, or obviously futile.” Xuncax, 886 F.Supp. At 178.

15 E. Defendant Ig Liable Under The ATCA.
16 247. Plaintiff's claims under the ATCA were for

17 || extrajudicial killing and crimes agéinst humanity. Complaint,

18 § 99 25, 29.

19 (1) Extrajudicial Killing.
20 248. Although the ATCA does not provide a definition of

21 || extrajudicial killing, under international law, extrajudicijial
22 | killing is a norm that is “specific, universal, and obligatory.”

23 || It meets the requirements of Sosa to be recognized under federal

24 { law.

25 248, The Ninth Circuit has held that “[t]lhe prohibition
26 || against summary execution . . . is . . . universal, obligatory
27 | and definable.” In re Estate of Ferdinand Marcos, Human Rights

28 || Litig., 25 F.3d 1467, 1475 (9% Cir. 1994) (citing Forti, 672 F.

T8




w oW S ! p' W N -

I T X N N L S T N L S O O T = S e o I R
B N~ B S 7 " T S-S Y- - S I ST IR "SR P R S B R~

M)
w

' Supp, at 1541, amende&, 694 F.Supp. at 710-+11). Thé Xuncax

court, relying in part on “[aln affidavit signed by twenty-seven

widely respected scholars of international law [that] attests

that every instrument or agreement that has attempted to define
the scope of international human rights has ‘recognized a right
to life coupled with é_right to due process to protect that

right, '~ conciuded that, “[als with official torture, the

| practices of summary execution, ‘disappearance’ and arbitrary

detention have been met with universal condemnation and

opprobrium." Xuncax, 886 F.Supp. at 185 (citing Forti, 694 F.

Supp. at 711).
250. Congress’ enactmeﬁt of the TVPA, singling out torture
and extrajudicial_killing,'confirmsvthat extraju&icial killing

provides a cause of action ﬁnder federal law. Sosa, 124 S. Ct.

{ at 2763, (“a clear mandate appears in the Torture Victim

Protection Act of 1991 . . . providing authority that
‘estaﬁlish{es} an unambiguous and modern basis for’ federal
claims of torture and extrajudicial killing . . .").

251. Plaintiff has established that Saravia is liable for
the extrajudicial killing of Archbishop Romero.

(2) Crimes Against Humanitx'

252. In Sosa, the United States Supreme Court held that
ATCA claims must “rest on a norm of internatiomal character
accepted by the civilized world and defined with a specificity
comparable to the features of the 18 .century paradigms we have
recognized.” 124 S. Ct. at 2761-62. The Sosa court identified
three offenses that give rise to liability under the traditional

law of nationg: violation of safe conduct, infringement of the
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righfs of ambassadors, and piracy. Id. at 2761. lfhehe'offenées
were universally accepted and defined with specificity.'?The'.
Court relied on the criteria then available to Congress and the.
courts -~ the extensive practice between étates and the work of
scholars, including Blackstone and Vattel, to identify thesé |
norms. In addressing the modernization of the ATCA, the court
cited with approval, cases which permitted ATCA claims for-
violations of international norms which.were “specific, uniéersal
and obligatory.” Id. at 2765. The prohibition against crimeé
against humanity constitutes such a specific, univergaf apd
obligatory norm. |

253. The internationallprohibition of crimes against
humanity is explicitly codified in several multilateral
agreements and has been extensively litigated in inte%ngtional
tribunals, comstituting a body of doctrinal expositién. It has
been exhaustively addressed in numerous scholarly treatises. The
prohibition of crimes against humanity has been defined with an
ever greater degree of specificity than the three 18%“-century
offenses identified by the Supreme Court and that are désigned to
serve as benchmarks for gauging the acceptability of individual
claims under the ATCA.

254. The prohibition against crimes against humanity was
first recognized by the Charter of the International Militéry
Tribunal at Nuremberg (“Nuremberg Charter”). See Restatement
(Third) of the Foreign Relations Law of the United States § 702,
rpt. note 1 (1987). The Nuremberg Charter was adopted to ensure
that serious human rights abuses committed during World War II by

the military and political leaders of Nazi Germany were puﬁished.
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See generally M. Cherif Bassiouni, Crimes against Humanity in
-fInternational Criminal Law (2d ed. . 1999). Under the Nuremberg

| Charter, acts constituting crimes against humanity included '

murder, extermination, enslavement, deportation, persecution on
political, racial or religious grounds, or other inhuman acts

committed against a civilian populatipn: Charter of the '

.:Internationallmilitary Tribunal, August 8, 1945, art. 6{c), 82

| U.N.T.S. 284. In ite final ruling on the criminal liabiiity of

Nazi leaders, the International Military Tribunal acknowledged
the status of crimes against humanity undér internationa1|1aw and
convicted several defendants of this crime. See The Nuremberg
Trial, 6 F.R.D. 69 (1946).

255, Since the édoption of the,Nuremberg Charter, the
prohibition against crimes ég#insﬁ ﬂﬁmaﬁiéy has been expréssly
recognizedlin"several international instruments. See, e.g., G.A. |
Res. 95(I), 1 GAOR U.N. Doc. A/64/Add.1, at 188 (1946)
(affifmation of principles set forth in Nuremberg Charter and
decision of International Military Tribunal); Convention on the
Non-Applicability of Statutory Limits to War Crimes and Crimes
Against Humanity, Nov. .26, 1968, 660 U.N.T.S. 195, reprinted in 8
I.L.M. 68 {(1969); Principles of International Co-Operation in the
Detection, Arrest, Extradition and Punishment of Persons Guilty
of War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity, G.A. Res.

3074 (XXVIII), 28 GAOR Supp. (No. 30) at 78, U.N. Doc.
A/9030/add.1 (1973).

256. Recent developments affirm the status of crimes

against humanity under internmational law. 1In 1993, the United

Nations Security Council established the International Criminal
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Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia (“ICTY”) to prbseduté serious
violaticns of international law committed in tha£ territofy;.
including genocide, war crimes, and crimes against humanity. See
State of the Intermational Criminal Tribﬁnal for the. former

Yugoslavia, U.N. Doc. S/RES/827 (1993), reprinted in 32 I.L.M.

1192 (1993). The International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda

("ICTR"”) was established by the Security Council in 1994 tb
prosecute similar violations of international law committed.in
Rwanda. See Statute of the International Criminal Tribunal fbr
Rwanda, U.N. Doc. S/RES/955 (1994), reprinted in 33 I.L.M. 1602
(1994) . Both statutes set forth an expanded list of enumerated
offenses which are crimes against humanity, including murder.

257. Both the ICTY and ICTR have affirmed the status of '
crimes against humanity under internationél law. Ianadic; for
example, the ICTY noted that “the customary status of the - -
iiprohibition against crimes against humanity and the attribntion
of individual criminal responsibility for their commission have
not been seriously questioned.” Prosecutor v. Tadic, Case No.
IT-94-1, (May 7, 1997), at Y 623. See also Prosecutor v. |
Akeyesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-T, (Sep. 2, 1988).

258. The Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court
(“Rome Statute”) provides the most current definition of crimes
against humanity under international law. Rome Statute of the
International Criminal Court (July 17, 1998), reprinted in 37
I.L.M. 9989 (1998). Article 7 of the Rome Statute defines crimes
against humanity as one of a number of defined acts when
committed as part of a widespread or systematic attack directed

against any civilian population, with knowledge of the attack.
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q;These_acts include muraer, among an expanded list of'crimes. Its
é recent codification in'the Rome Statute makes Article 7 an

| authoritative interpretation of criﬁes.against humanity in '
%international-law..'See generally, Otto Triffterer, Commenfary on
;the Rome Statute of the International é:iminal-Court (éd,, 1998) .
t The Rome statute has been ratified'or,acbéded to by %54 coﬁ#tries
iand signed.by én additional 47, including foui of the five
émembers'of the U.N. Security Council;'siénifying widespread -

'%acceptance. (The United States is not a signatory, however, this

1

| does not affect the analysis).

259. The Rome statute requires four elements for establish
a crime against humanity: (1) a violation of one of the
enumerated acts; {(2) committed as ﬁgrt of a widespread or
systematic attack; (3) direéted agaiﬁst'a~civilian populaﬁion;
and (4) committed with knowledge of the attack. Significantly,
even a single act by an individual, taken within the context of a
widespread or systematic attack against a civilian population,
can constitute a crime against humanity;

260. According to Antonio Cassesse, the former President of
the International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia,
“when one or more individuals are . . . accused . . . of
perpetrating specific atrocities or vicious acts, in order to
determine whether the necessary threshold is met one should use
the following test: one ought to look at these atrocities or acts
in their context and verify whether they may be regarded as part
of an overall policy or a consistent pattern of inh&manity, or
whether they instead constitute isolated or sporadic acts of

cruelty or wickedness.” Antonio Cassesse, “Crimes against
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| Humanity,” in I The Rome Statute of the'Igternatidnal'Criminai

Court: A Commentary 353, 361 {eds. 2002); see generally,:D&trfl
Robinson, Development in Internatiopal Criminal Law: Defining
‘Crimes against Humanity’ at the Rome Conference, 93.Am. J. of
Int’l Law 43, 48 (2002). This principle was affirmed by the
ICTY in Prosecutor v. Msksic, where the court stated:

Crimes against humanity . . . must be widespread or

demonstrate a systematic character. However, as long

as there is a link with the widespread or systematic

attack against a civilian population, a single act

could qualify as a crime against humanity. As such, an

individual committing a crime against a single victim

or a limited number of victims might be recognized as

guilty of a crime against humanity if his acts were

part of the specific context identified above.

Prosecutor v. Msksic, Case No. IT-95-13-R61, (Apr. 3, 1996), at
Y 30. BSee also Prosecutor v. Tadic, Case No. IT-94-1-T, (May 7,
1997), at § 649 (“Clearly, a single act by a perpetrator taken
within the context of a widespread or systematic attack against a -
civilian population entails individual criminal responsibility
and an individual perpetrator need not commit numercus offenses
to be held liable.”).

261. Several federal courts in the United States have
accepted the well-established nature of crimes against humanity
and their actionability under the ATCA. See, e.g.., Flores v.
Southern Peru Copper Corp., 343 F.3d4 140, 151 (2d Cir. 2003)
(*Customary international law rules proscribing crimes against
humanity, including genocide, and war crimes, have been
enforceable against individuals since World War II.”); Aldana v.
Fresh Del Monte Produce, Inc., 305 F. Supp. 2d 1285, 1299 (8.D.

Fla. 2003) (“Crimes against humanity have been recognized as

violation of customary international law since the Nuremberyg
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fTrials in 1944.7); Sarei v. Rio-Tinto PLC, 221 F. Supp. 2d 1116,
€,1150 (¢.D. Cal. 2002) (™It is well-established that a party who
éfcommits a crime against humanity violates international law and
?Emay be held liable under the ATCA.”); Cabello, 157 F. Supp. 24 at
551360 61 (“[T]he rul;ng of the Nuremberg Tribunal memoriallzed the
'?recognztzon of ‘crimes against humanity as customary
3;internationa1 iaw‘");-Iwancwa v. Ford Motor Co., 67 F. Supp. 24
'5424,'446 (D. N.J. 1999) (recognizingxériﬁes_against humanitf as a
é:violation of international law); Quinn v. Robinson, 783 F.2d 776,
f3799 (9“-Cir. 1986) {(“crimes against humanity, such as gen&cide,

Eviolate international law”). See also United States v. Yousef,

327 F.34 56, 105 (24 Cir. 2003) (“Followiné the Second World War,

! the United States and other natlons recognlzed ‘war crimes’ and

‘crimes against humanity, ’ 1nc1ud1ng genoc1de, as cr;mes for

l which international law permits the exercise of universal

juris§iction"); Sosa, 124 S. Ct, at 2783:(Breyer, J., concurring)
(recognizing that international law views crimes against humanity
as universally condemned behavior that is subject to
prosecution) .

262. In particular, several U.S. courts have referenced the
specific,‘universal, and obligatory nature of crimes against
humanity in their rulings on ATCA liability. 1In Mehinovie, the
district court applied the “specific, universal and obligatory”
test and held that crimes against humanity are actionable under
the ATCA. 198 F. Supp. 2d at 1344, 1352-54. The district court
in Wiwa, also followed this approach, analyzing several ATCA
claims under the “specific, universal and obligatory” standard

and holding the prohibition of crimes against humanity to be Ya
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gnorm that is customary, oﬁligétory, and wgll-definéd\in”’*‘

international jurisprudence.” 2002 WL 319887 at *5, 9;:27}  .
263. These cases demonstrate that crimes against humanity

constitute a specific, universal, and obligatory norm and that

thig norm is actionable under the ATCA. Thé”assassination of

Archbishop Romero meets the elements for establishing a crime

against humanity. The Romero assassination occurred in an
environment of state-sanctioned violencé»that was both widesbread
throughout El Salvador and constituted systematic, inhumane |
attacks on the civilian population by the ruling military. The
death squad which perpetrated the murder of Archbishop Romero
acted as part of a calculatea strategy by the military to
terro;ize the civilian pcpulatioh into submission. The decisién
to kill Romero was implemented to silence his criticigm‘of.the
state security forces and state'implemented*repressién. at or
about the same time other.priests were being murdered by the
military and death squads to deter their practice of liberation
theology.

264. Saravia knew that he was involved in an operétion to
commit the murder of one of the most important civilians in El
Salvador, its revered Archbishop. Given thbat this particular act
took place within the context of other widespread and systematic
attacks against the civilian populatiqn by state security forces
and state-sponsored death squads, the assassination of Romero
meets the four criteria for establishing it as a crime against
humanity. |

265. This extrajudicial killing meets the Supreme Court’s

requirements identified in Scosa.
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(3) No Exhaustion of Remedies Reduirement Under ATCA.

266. Plaintiffs asserting claims under the ATCA are not

-?xequired to exhaust their remedies in the state in which the '
Ealleged violations'of customary internat;onal law occurred; Seé
;Abiola v. Abubakér, 267 ¥. Supp. 2d 90%,-910 (N.D. 'Il1. 2003);
3£Sarei, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 1132-35 (“The court is not perﬂdéded
?that Congress"decision to include an exhaustion of remedies

| provision in the TVPA indicates that'é_pérallel requirement must
_?be'read into the‘ATCA.") (citing Kadie, 70 F.3d at 241).  See

|l also Jamé v. I.N.S., 22 F. Supp. 24 353, 364 (D.N.J. 1998)'-
'?(“Thexe is nothing in the ATCA which 1imi£s its application to

| situations where there is no relief availaﬁle under domestic

law.”) .

267. 1In Kadic; which the Safei‘coﬁrf cited, the Secénd
Circuit held that “[tlhe scope of the'Alien Tort Act remains
undiminished by enactment of the Torture Victim Act.” 70 F.3d at
241. The Kadic court did not apply the TVPA exhaustion of
remedies requirement to the plaintiffs’ ATCA claims for torture
and summary execution, even though piaintiffs asserted the same
claims under the TVPA.. Id. at 243-44.

268.A The Supreme Court in Sosa néted in dicta that
exhaustion of remedies available in the foreign domestic legal
system may be necessary under the ATCA in “an appropriate case.”
124 S. Ct. at 2766, n.21. However, the court did not elaborate
on the issue and did not disavow the Second Circuit’s ruling. As
plaintiff’s claims for extrajudicial killing and crimes against
humanity are brought under the ATCA and customary international

law, plaintiff need not show that plaintiff has exhausted
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| remedies in E1 salvador, which exhaustion.haé been deﬁermined'to

| be futile.

F. Plaintiff is Entitled to Damages Under the TVPA and the

hod

TCA.

269. Courts have awarded significant ¢émpens&tbry‘and-
punitive damages for extrajudiciai killing under the TVPA. See,
e.g., Tachiona, 216 F. Supp. 2d at 267-68. In that case, the
Court awarded $2.5 million for consisten&y‘with next pages in
compensatory and $5 million in punitive damage for extrajudicial
killing. In reaching that decision, the Court cited the
following awards of other courts: Mushikiwabo v. BaraYagwiza, No.
94 Civ. 3627, 1996 WL 164496; at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 9, 1996)
(awarding compensatory damages ihcluding $500,000 in pain and
suffering and awarding $1 million in punitive damagesato each
relative of a victim and $5 milliom to each victim for torture
and murder under the TVPA.and ATCA); Mehinovic, 198 F. Supp. 24
at 1358-60 (awarding $10 million in compensatory and $25 million
in punitive damages to each victim for torture, cruel and |
inhumane treatment, arbitrary detention, violations of tﬁe 1aﬁ of
war and crimes against humanity under both the TVPA and ATCA as
well as assault and battery, false imprisonment, intentional
infliction of emotional distress and conspiracy under Georgia
law) .

270. Courts have also awarded significant compensatory and

punitive damages for violations of the ATCA, including
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?Hextrajudicial killing and crimes against huhanity.® Previous

| courts have awarded the following:

L Pilartiga (awarding $5 miilion each in punitive damages
to the féther and sister of Joglito Filartiga, wﬁo wag
torturéd to death by Paraguafan officialg; court also
awarded, $350,000 in com@énsatof?-damages); |

. Xuncéx {awarding $7 million in compensatory and
punitive damages to each oflthé three plaintiffs
asserting a claim for extrajudicial killing):;

. | Mushikawabo (awarding between $10 million and'$55
million in compensatory and punitive damages to each
plaintiff suing for‘the_extrajudicial killing of a
number of relatives duriﬁg‘maasgcres in.Rwanda);

. Trajano v. Marcos‘(Iﬁ re: éstété of Ferdinand E; Marcos
Human Rights Litigation), 978 F.2d 4283 (9% Ccir. 1992)
(awarding $4.16 million in compensatory and punitive

damages and attorneys fees for torture and

* 1f a choice of law analysis is necessary to determine the
applicability of punitive damages, this Court may look to the law
of El1 Salvador, but only to the extent it does not frustrate the
very purpose of the ATCA. See Tachiona, 234 F. Supp. 2d at 419
(choice of law determination should not compel “dispositive
application of foreign law where the municipal rule of decision
may conflict with federal law or international standards”)}; see
also Filartiga v. Pena-Irala, 577 F. Supp. 860, 863-64 (E.D.N.Y.
1984) (“the court should consider the interests of Paraguay to
the extent they do not inhibit the appropriate enforcement of the
applicable intermnational law or conflict with the public policy
of the United States”). Salvadoran law does support awards of
“moral damages,” which are tantamount to punitive damages under
U.S. law. See Noya Decl. at §§ 19-21. Therefore, even under a
choice of law analysis, plaintiff is entitled to punitive
damages.
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. extrajudicial killing); ‘
. Tachiona (awarding undifferentiated daﬁages under both
the TVPA and the ATCA in the amount of $7.5 milliomn in
compensatory and punitive damaées for each.of three
claims of extrajudicial killing); and | |
. Ccabello v. Fernandez-Larios, No. 99-0528-CIV-LENARD

(8.D. Fla. Oct. 31, 2003) (following a jury triai,.an

award of $4 million was entered in favor of plaintiffs

for a single claim of extrajudicial killing and crimes
against humanity). '

271. These decisions have awarded damages on the basis of
the following factors: |

i. Brutality of the act; ‘ ' : '

ii. Egregiousness of defendant’s conduct;

iii. Unavailability of criminal remedy;

iv. International condemnation of act;

v, Deterrence of others from committing similar acts;.

vi. Provision of redress to plaintiff, country and
world. .

272. TFor all the reasons discussed, these factors support
the award of substantial damages in this case. In many ways,
this case is different from any other because of the national and
international stature of the victim, his importance to any effort
to avoid war, and the violence that followed his death.
Archbishop Roméro was widely recognized as the one person who
could act as a bridge between fhe divided sectors of Salvadoran
sociéty and was seen by the U.S. government and many others as

absolutely crucial to any nonviolent or less-violent resolution
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‘iof the crisis gripping El Salvador at the time. With his death
§ and the elimination of the bridge between the polarized sectors

Il of Salvadoran society, El Salvador descended into civil war. :

273. Plaintiff has suffered a 1oss only partially

;gcompensable in money and is entitled. to szgn;flcant compensatory
iand punitive damages, in the respective ‘amounts of $5 m;lllon and
;SS million for a total damage award of $10 million.

| v. coNcLusIoN

274, For all reasons stated, plaintiff is entitled to

;judgment on the claim of extrajudicial killing under the TVPA and

l on the claims of extrajudicial killing and crimes against

humanity under -the ATCA, in the tctal amount of $12 million
against defendant, Saravia, plus hlB costs of suit.

275. The Redacted Flndlngs of Fact and Conclusions of Law

‘shall be publically filed.

276. The Unredacted Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

ghall be filed UNDER SEAL.
80 ORDERED.

DATED: November 23, 2004.

Dl

Oliver W. Wanger /¢
UNITED STATES DISTRICT [JUDGE
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for the _
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' _ 1:03-cv-062495

Doe . : '
v,

Saravia

. the undersigned, hereby certify that I am an employee in the Office of
1e Clerk, U.S. District Court, Eastern District of California.

1at on November 24, 2004, I SERVED a true and correct copy{ies) of
ae attached, by plac1ng sald copy (ies) in a postage paid envelope
idressed to the person(s) hereinafter listed, by depositing said
wvelope in the U.S. Mail, by placing said copy(les) into an‘'inter-cffice
2livery receptacle 1ocated in the Clerk’s office, or, pursuant to prlor
ithorization by counsel, via facsimile. .
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Heller Ehrman White and McAuliffe

332 Bush Street ‘

San PFrancisco, CA 94104

Carolyn Patty Blum
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Law Office of Carolyn Blum
291 West 12th Street
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870 Market BStreet
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